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FOREWORD

My first introduction to Glenn Wessels was at a
lively--jazz in the background--University Gallery
opening in January 1966, He was talking with Stephen
Pepper (a former Regional Oral History Office inter-
viewee) and when my job was explained to him, Mr.
Wessels jokingly suggested, "Why not interview me?"

So when University Librarian Donald Coney proposed in
March 1966 that Glenn Wessels' knowledge of Hans
Hofmann, and of the campus and Bay Area cultural
development, should be made into oral history, it was
a pleasure to remind Mr, Wessels of his offer.

Our interviews took place later that spring in
his Kroeber Hall office-studio, always with instant
coffee, always with a sense of great rush and busyness.
The scene, of course, was everchanging as the paintings
in the background changed. And there was always a
certain flow of student interruption. At the beginning
of our meetings Mr. Wessels wished to speak as unin-
terruptedly as possible, getting it all said as it
occurred to him. At the end we went back and considered
more questions. He was willing and co-operative and it

was fun.
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ii

After a painting summer in Scandinavia and the
south of France, Mr, Wessels was back, now found in
California Hall's great top floor studio., A visit
there in October 1966 gave a real sense of the painter
at last at work nearly full time--though never without
some commitment to teaching--and his work was exciting
and various after his summer. He was a busy man still,
simultaneously at work on some five canvasses, scenes
from years back, from walks in hills here and everywhere,
large compositions of large subjects, small bright,
beautiful paintings. Always instant coffee, always a
tight schedule, now seen under a vast skylight, wearing
a green eye-shade, He will never have enough time to
paint, but it must by now be an ingredient of his work.

The Regional Oral History Office was established
to tape record autobiographical interviews with persons
prominent in recent California history. The Office,
headed by Mrs, Willa Baum, is under the administrative
supervision of the Director of the Bancroft Library.
Mr, Wessels' interview forms one of a continuing series
of interviews on the history of the University of
California and was partially financed by a grant from

the Alumni Fund.
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iii

Interviews with Stephen C., Pepper, Grace McCann
Morley, Louis and Iundy Siegriest, Constance and Spencer
Macky, Eugen Neuhaus, and Elsie Whitaker Martinez may be
of particular interest to the researcher in Bay Area art
history.

Stephen C, Pepper, whose history in and of the

Department of Art is available in his Art and Philosophy

at the University of California 1919 to 1962, is Mills

Professor of Intellectual and ﬁoral Philosophy and Civil
Polity, Emeritus. Still very much on campus, he is an
advisor and friend to the University. As a good friend

of Glenn Wessels', he was a logical and happily agreeable

introducer to Mr. Wessels,

Suzanne B, Riess
Interviewer
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iv

INTRODUCTION

Well do I remember when I first saw Glenn Wessels,

I was just a young professor. He came into my office at
the top of Wheeler Hall, a boy with rumpled hair and
clothes, and overflowing with eagerness., He was really
more than a boy, for he has always looked younger than
he is. What was he so eager about? He had heard some-
how that I was supposed to know things about art. He
was studying to be a painter at the California College
of Arts and Crafts. He was earning something there too,
He admired his teachers there. But they had conflicting
ideas and did not seem to be able to tell him why they
were doing what they did. He wanted to know the why's,
to get to the bottom of these things. I soon found that
much of what he wanted to know just was not known, and I
advised him to get in touch with the psychology department
and ask to do some experimenting in visual aesthetics.

He eventually got his A.B. majoring in psychology in
this University, and starting so many fruitful lines of
experiment in aesthetic matters that later students
obtained their Ph.D.'s completing some of his special

problems, He had a gift for experiments, ingenious in
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finding ways of establishing correlations and con-
structihg mechanisms to bring his ideas to fruitful
testing. He had more ideas than he could use and the
psychologists were fascinated with him, They had never
seen a man like him, and I am sure they never have since,
Por what he really wanted was to paint, not just to know,
I saw a lot of him over this period, but the next
vivid memory of a special occasion is again in the same
office at the top of Wheeler Hall, when he came in with
his father, His father was a man not to be forgotten, a
man of dignity,with a beard like Moses. He was, to my
amazement, asking me for advice about his son's career.
1 was embarrassed--just a young teacher to be offering
advice to this impressive person who could have been my
father and who wanted to know what was most advantageous
for his son's future, What specifically he wanted to
know was whether it would be a waste of his son's money--~
some little sum of which he was trustee, I believe--to
let him have it and be off on his own in pursuit of this
strange craze for art off in Europe. In spite of my
embarrassment, I never gave a piece of advice with such
unqualified assurance as to tell him he could be certain
it would be all right. To my further amazement, Glenn's
father accepted my authority, and turned the money over

to Glenn,
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vi

No money could have been better spent. Glenn
discovered Hans Hofmann while in Europe, just the man
whose own experiments in painting could teach Glenn
more than anyone could about what Glenn wanted to know.
Hofmann thought a lot of Glenn and made him his assistant
in his art school for two years, When Glenn returned to
America in 1931, it was I who was learning from him,

And again I was seeing him a lot.

In fact, there was no one whom I thought so sympa-
thetically understanding of my approach to aesthetics
both in theory and in teaching as he. Our conceptions
of the proper structure of a college art department were
also identical, and the ways of administrating it. When
I became chairman of the Berkeley Art Department, I had
him in mind as a person we should eventually want on the
staff, For besides his growing reputation as a painter,
he turned out to have a talent for administration. He
acquired good practice at this as a Supervisor on the
WPA Pederal Art Project, and also at the State College
of Washington., We added him to our staff in Berkeley in
1946, and he was acting chairman of the Department during
my absence in 1948, Few members have given more to the
Department over the years than he, His youthfulness and
buoyancy remain permanently with him, Never has his

painting been so vigorous and expressive as now.
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vii

And now it is I who have been substituting for him
in his visual aesthetics class while he is away on leave.
And, of course, it is he who now is the authority on

matters of visual aesthetics--than whom I would maintain

there is none better to be found,

Stephen C. Pepper
Mills Professor of Intellectual and

Moral Philosophy and Civil Polity
Emeritus

November, 1967
University of California

Berkeley, California
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viii

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION
Glenn Anthony Wessels

Birthplace: Capetown, South Africa (naturalized American

citizen)

Date: December 15, 1895

Parentage: Father, John James Wessels, born Johannesburg
Mother, Ruby Electa Anthony, born Nova Scotla

Marlital Status: Married to Katheryn Foster Wessels

Education: California public schools from the age of seven

on, A.B. (psychology), U.C.B. B.F.A., Cal. College of
Arts and Crafts., M.A., U.C.B. European Art Study: two
years travel and museum study in England, France, Italy
and Germany; art school study chiefly with Hans Hofmann,
Schule flir Bildende Kunst at Munich and St. Tropez, also
with Andre L'hote, Paris, Academie Colorossi, Paris, and
Karl Hofer, Berlin.,

Teaching Experience: Callifornia College of Arts and Crafts,

1524-28, instructor in antique, life drawlng, watercolor,
advertising art, stage design. 1930-42, assistant professor
teaching composition, with still-life, figure and landscape
subject-matter; art techniques, art history, aesthetics,
sclence for artists and craftsmen, principles of camouflage.

Hofmenn Schule fir Bildende Kunst,
1629-30. Assistant and interpreter for Hans Hofmann in
Munich and St. Tropez, then on lecturetour in the U.S. with
a summer session at U.C.B.

State College of Washington, Pullmen,
1942-45, assistant professor of fine arts. 1945-46, assoclate
professor, teaching beginning and advanced drawing and
compositlion, design, asesthetics, art history, mural painting,
art teaching methods, principles of camouflage.

University of California, Berkeley,
1946-, associate professor of art, teaching fundamentals of
drawing and composition, advanced painting and composition,
history and theory of criticism of pictures, lithography
and etching; acting chairman of department, Spring 1949.
Full professor, 1950-1966.

Summer session engagements: Northwestern
University, Evanston, Ill., 1931, Mills College, Oakland,
1932, State College of Washington, Pullmen, 1940, 1941.
California College of Arts and Crafts, 1942,1943, U.C.B.,
1946,1947,1950-1966, U.C.L.A., 1948, 8State College of
Montana, 1949,
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|GLENN WESSELS, NEWEST BOARD MEMBER

This is the story of a2 boy who ran away from home
and became an artist.

Glenn Wessels didn’t want to be a doctor; he wanted
to paint. He didn’t like the study of medicine and the
strange smells that went with it. But the smell of paint —
that was quite agreeable.

“You'll end up starving in a garret,” said his father.
But today Wessels lives in a substantial house in Berkeley
with his charming wife, and they are not starving. Over
the years his paintings have won innumerable awards in
many exhibits in this nation and abroad, and are in notable
collections. He is in great demand as a lecturer, often serves
as an advisor on art councils, as a consultant for museurns
and other important collectors. He is revered as a teacher,
has long been a Major Ad-
visor for the University of
California Art Department
and very active in other
University affairs. He re-
cently spent a year painting
in Italy on a grant from
the U.C. Institute of Crea-
tive Arts, and 24 of the
works he brought back are
being shown at Mills Col-
lege Art Gallery through
Feb. 13.

Wessels had already
held several jobs after
leaving his pre-med course /
?ltis Usg dil;sef(:': ?}f s bé%??_ Artist Glenn Wessels
fornia School of Arts and Crafts. He had worked in
the oil fields and in shipyards and on the old S.F. Call
Bulletin where a staff artist told him, “Go to art school,
learn to draw better and I'll give you a job.”

Wessels worked on the waterfront for money enough
to start art studies. As his art skills increased he was asked
to teach. Then Frederick Meyer, CCAC's founder, suggest-
ed he return to U.C. for his degree. Majoring in Psychol-
ogy of Perception, he received his A.B. and journeyed to
Europe, There he traveled for two years, studying with
Andre Lhote and at the Academie Colorossi, Paris; with
Karl Hofer, Berlin; and studying and working with Hans
Hofman in Munich — incidentally teaching Hofman Eng-
lish and pursuading him to come to the U.S. for a summer
of teaching. Wessels himself returned to CCAC as a fa-
culty member.

During his student days he had become close friends
with Mr. and Mrs. Meyer, and now he became Meyer’s
assistant. Glenn Wessels gives great credit to Frederick
Meyer for helping him find his life’s directions, and, among
many of CCAC'’s early teachers, particularly to the friend-
ship and teaching of Xavier Martinez and of Isabelle Percy
West.

_ But the depression struck — at CCAC as elsewhere.
With a decreasing number of students, Wessels had to take
on numerous additional jobs. He was a Northern Califor-
nia Supervisor for W.P.A., the Federal Arts Project; and
was rProbably the first art columnist in San Francisco, writ-
ing for the noted Argonaut newspaper. An offer from Wa-
shington State College took him to serve on its art depart-
ment for five years. He was then invited to join the U.C.
art department, where he is at present,

. Today, with a long record of exhibits, honors and
prizes for his brilliant and joyous paintings and his many
other contributions to our world, Glenn Wessels returns
to the place where his art education started, to serve in yet
another capacity as the newest member of CCAC’s Board
of Trustees. The honor, in this case, is ours, It is a pleas-
ure to welcome the boy who ran away from home,

Appeared in California College of Arts and Crafts
Vol. LIX, No. 7, December, 1965







Villis Foster

O. Box 917, Berkeley, CA 94701 (415) 528-8344

November 24, 1986

Mr, James Elliott, Director,
University Art Museum,

2626 Bancroft Way,

Berkeley CA 94720

Dear Mr. Elliott:

The November issue of the California Monthly
alerted me to the Hofmann exhibit, now at the gallery. It
is an impressive show, and you are to be congratulated for
presenting it so well, without letting the artist's spectac-
ularly bright colors overwhelm the surroundings.

The show does, however, perpetuate an oversight
in the history of the Hofmann collection, and does an injus-
tice to the man who actually brought Hofmann to Berkeley the
first time - Professor Glenn Wessels, formerly of the Art
Department. Without him it is doubtful that the German master
would have taught here, or that his collection would have been
given to the University.

This does not diminish Worth Ryder's efforts.
It was he who first had the idea of bringing Hofmann to the
campus for a summer session assignment in 1930. However, ex-
ecution of the plan was hampered by distance and by the language
barrier. To overcome both Ryder recruited his friend and col-
league, Glenn Wessels, who was in Munich at the time.

Wessels had gone there at Ryder's suggestion, two
years earlier. He got along so well with his mentor that the
two became close friends, tutoring one another in his native
language, so that Wessels became 1ntimately familiar with Herr
Hofmann's views and methods.

When the invitation came from Ryder, Hofmann was
reluctant to take such a big step, although he was becoming un-
easy with the political situation in his homeland. He finally
agreed to come, provided Wessels accompanied him as guide and
translator.

The hegira almost ended in New York City. Hofmann
was impressed by the size and vitality of the city, and considered
accepting an invitation from the Art Students' League to teach
there. It took some strong persuastion by Wessels for him to
continue westward.

En route the pair stopped several times to lec-
ture, with Wessels sharing the platform to translate and elab-
orate on Hofmann's talks. Among other places they visited Minn-
eapolis, where Hofmann met two future members of the University
Art Department - John Haley and Erle Loran.
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2 - Elliott

It was because of his pleasant experiences in
Berkeley that Hofmann decided, some years later, to give his
paintings and a bequest of $250 000 to the University to es-
tablish the Hofmann Gallery. By then neither Ryder nor Wessels
was in. the Art Department, and negotiations for the transfer
were conducted by others.

Verification of Wessels' important role in the
bequest was given by former Chancellor Roger Heyns at the dedi-
cation of the Gallery on November 6, 1970. He awarded the
Berkeley Citation - highest honor the campus could give = to
Wessels for 'long years of loyal and enlightened service --
service which 1nc1uded the inspired move of bringing Hans Hof-
mann to the campus. Somehow when the history of the Gallery
was recounted, Wessels' part in the affair fell through the
cracks.

Since I believe that this is the first time that
the complete collection of Hofmann paintings has been displayed,
it would be an appropriate occasion to restore the true story,
giving Worth Ryder and Glenn Wessels joint credit for the acqui- -
sition.

I want also to suggest that some corner of the
Hofmann Gallery be reserved for biographical and historical
information about Hans Hofmann. It might be appropriate to
include there a rotating show of works by Hofmann students, of
whom there are many distinguished ones around the country. It
could be inaugurated with a comprehensive exhibit of works by
Vaclav Vytlacil, Anton Refregier, Cameron Booth, John Haley,
Erle Loran, Wor th Ryder, Glenn Wessels, and many others who were
taught and influenced by Hofmann. You probably have representa-
tive paintings from several of them in your permanent collection,
and could readily supplement it from other local museums.

I would like also to suggest that you forward a
copy of this letter to Cynthia Goodman, in case she revises or
supplements her recent book on Hans Hofmann. She can find a
full account of much of the above material in Wessels' oral auto-
biography, "Education of an Artist,' in the Oral History Office
of the Bancroft Library on the campus. I would be glad to supply
additional information about him, 1f she cares to get in touch

with me by mail to the above address, or by phone.

C;;;Eperely,ggtdyﬂ;zﬁ;ﬂ

Willis Foster

cc Dean Kuhi
Allen Temko
John Haley
Karl Kasten
Russell Schoch
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Wessels:

Riess:

Wessels:

THE FAMILY IN SOUTH AFRICA

You asked me where the family came from. My own

racial background is very scattered--my mother was

Nova Scotian, English, Irish, Scottish and Welsh, My
father was South African Dutch and Belgian French. I
recently found the Wessels name important in Norwegian
history. PFamily names on my father's side were Duplessis,
Botha, Wessels, and Rousseau. And on my mother's side
Maime was English, and Anthony probably Welsh. O'Brien
was the Irish; and Wallace was the Scottish.e So I call
myself a North European salad. [Laughter] (Since the
recent trip to Norway, I am convinced the name Wessels
originated in Norway.) To trace all these family lines
back to the origin is a little unnecessary, I think, but
the first Wessels of my family I ever heard about appeared
in PFriesland. Then they show up again in connection

with St. Bartholomew's Eve, Cardinal Richelieu and all
that., They were on the wrong side as Huguenots and they
left for religious reasons for South Africa for very much
the same reasons as the Puritans came to America,

You were interested in finding out about them?

Yes, I went to Holland not long ago, just curious to see

how the boys who had stayed home had done. And I found
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Wessels:

seven Wessels in the phone book in Haarlam and five in
Amsterdam. I walked out into the street and saw a big
green traveling sign that said that "Wessels shoes tread
the world" and also the Wessels family owns all the rock
and roll record siops in Amsterdam. I did not make
nyself known to them but apparently they did all right,
the ones who stayed hone.

The family as I knew it began with ny grandfather
whose father was Voertrekker; one of the Boers (Boer

means farmer, like the German, bauer ),who moved out

when the British moved into Cape Colony. He moved into the

Transvaal, the ziore northerly regions of South Africa.
They got into covered wagons :wuch as the pioneers who
came across the plains did and moved Out and left the
place to the British whom they did not approve of.
British colonists are not the kind of people who zppealed
to the good Dutch Reformed religious farmers; they felt
that they were being debased by tiiis association so they
got out.

This feeling carried through the Boer War and carries

through ihto the apartheid movement today, the antipathy due

to a kind of Boer conservatism, and a Dutch stubborn
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Wessels:

feeling that they want to be assured of their own
traditional customs nd so on und so forth. You detect
the same kind of stubbornness in the Pennsylvania Dutch
too; in their resistence to educational changes and all
this sort of thing. This is part of the Dutch attitude,
I think.

Now kind of bringing it cdown to d:te, my grandfather's
family all beczme very involved in the government of the
Transvaal region :nd several faumily relctives became
importunt in the government. The Boer War really began
as an imperialistic grab--I am telling this now from the
Boer side--on the part of Englund. Gold and diamonds were
discovered, not quite simultaneously; but diamonds were
discovered on some of the family h.ldings and gold elsewhere.
Father was one of the originol founders of the deBeer's
Diamond Mining Company und the family became very rich.

And when Grandfather Wessels' holdings and farms were
divided up they each one found themselves well off. So

they were e .ch in their own way very indevpendent financially
and able to do what they wanted to do.

Seventh Day Adventism

3

Something very peculiar happened however; my Uncle
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Wessels:

Riess:

Wessels:

Peter, the oldest brother, full very ill. All of them
had been rore or less couve:tional Luti.er .ns up to this
time. Uncle Peter :.de =2 great vow--they were very re-
ligious neople-~taut if the Lord cured 21in of .1is illness,
he would restady the Scriptures .nd follow the Lord's

word as e:xnctly as he co:ld. So wiile lie was sick, he

(S

arted to reac the Bible all over urain and weighed

t

each p.rt of it in the lizhtv of ..is vow, =2nd he could

@

not find any place in the Bible where it said that people
s.aould zo to church on Sunday. So he decided thot somewvhere
or aunother on error hrnd been comaitited since there was
tbsolutely no provision in the Bible for caanging the
worshin doy f{rom Saturdey to sund y. So, satarday was the
nroper Si.bb:.th day. He was ..11 alone in tnis so he begzin
holdinz uis »nrivate vruyers on Saturday instec.. of Sunday.
I toke it ne wus cured?

Yes! Le becizue very well and very rich ond so a rich men
who is also well lolds some infi.ence. Other oeople in
the fumily thousht that he was a litile nuttiy but went
along with him. But the whole thing took on another di-
mension when he heard th:t there was a sect in Anmerica
which 2lso kept the seventh doy of the week so he said
that he would fin:.nce a teacher to cone over and tell him
awbout it--maybe he could find some other things out that

he had not thought about. He wanted to know whit they had.






essels:

=,

.
iy
H

Riess:

Wessels:

Riess:

Wessels:

The person who was sent was a doctor, R.S. Anthony,
who was my mother's brother. He cume to South Africa to
teach the seventh-day-keeping Boers (und now there were
several of them), the doctrines of Seventh Day Adventism.
The result was that most of the funmily converteds Then
their aim became the betterment of munkind. My father
particularly was very idealistic wbout it ond decided to
devote his fortune to the founding of institutions which
would make healthy people out of people who were not
nealthy. And olso to instill in them the principles of
rizht living « In order to learn how to do this; he
went to Batile Creek and fell under the influence of
J.H. Kellogg, wio was doing the szme kind of thing there.
What are these institutions, are they hospitals?

They are sanitiriums. One of them is up here<&St. Helenal!s.
One of them is in Glendales The fum.us Baittle Creek one

was the first one. That was the J.H. Kelloge Sanitarium

in Battle Creek. Corn flakes, vegetarianism and all of that
came out of tiris. J.H. invented them und later, when his
brother, W.K.,stole cornflakes, J.H. started rice flakes.
Father helped these enterprises.

This all seems fantastic.

It is fantastic; it is fantastic even to me, I hardly
believe it is true. SBut not very :uuny years ago, before

ny fother and mother died, a huge caravan of trallers drew

up in front of their little house in Glendule and who should






Wessels: .op out nut o very .ged W.X. Kellog;--J.H.'s brother-—come
to see my father, who nad orob bly fin nced nis first

corm fleke. | Loughter] This is true, I have secn it with

-1

my own eyes. w.K. Lad never been o Seventh Dzy Adventist

and loter split with J.He--t2king corn-fiuites with him.

{(Later, Post, who hud been an employee, stole his secrets!)

3.

The health ood movement in America started rijht

==

ct

there, this whole reason tnut you ewut hay for brezkfast.
It 211 began richt there witihi the doctrine of J.H.Kellogg,
that mon vas by the niiture of his teeth and his p.uysiology
a2 fruit ind srain eater, not o meat eating animel.

Kellog: went to considerable puins to prove that it was
wrongs to e..t meat ond so forbh. So the Seventh Day
Adventists ..ccepted t'.is as part of their doclrine and
a5 a result I had very iittle ueat in my home until I
ran away from home lite in wdolescence.

Riess: Was Kelloug o« ponvert?

Wesselst He was one of the Seventh Doy Adventist doctors. He later
split off from the Seventh Day Adventists. The novement
nad develovned in this country--I1 did not gzo into thut
nurposely--but the movement developed in this country
besinning with the Millerites. You know the thin: —bout

the stars fa:ling... Well, there was a sect in America






Wesselsy that found something in the Bible referring to the stars
falling and prophecies that after that certain things
would happen in world events and so forth. They felt
that when the stars fell that was the sign of the end
of the world and that the heavens were going to descend
on earth =t that moment. 8o a lot of them gathered on a
high mountzin peak, I don't remember just where but
somewhere in Illinois or around there; after a particularly
active meteoric shower in 1866, I guess it was. They
stood there and expected to see divine beings descending
immediately after the shower stopped. Well, they did not
come, so the Millerites fell into altercutions and
discussions anda thought there must be something wrong with
their figuring somewhere. One of these people was
Mrs. E.G. White, who was sort of an inspired mystic really,
the kind of person who started the Christian Science
Church, the same sort of person_. as Mary B. Eddy, with a
lot of drive a2nd a lot of 2bility and with a belief in
her own intuitions. (This Mrs. Ellen G. White used to
rock me on her knee;‘ by the way, when I was a small boy
in Australia).

She had visions, and after this stars falling thing
did not come off she went home and she had a vision, and

this vision explained that there had been a misinterpretation



- ‘1’ X _Vi"'}.',‘l'_‘y o = b . Ao S, P 4

h "R AN : e N
A « 47 4 Txta
SN0 _l.‘ . jis h 4
Y < B 5 i
- -
L L8 i i 4 A
L ‘ S A LS b
= by, =

i s -
r T - .-4‘ 4] B
= ™ L 2]
* ’ fw a8
‘_' ; h. . l‘;-". J!

wod Ao o . . w10 T P
.L'r 3 Bt FTERRTY

—e'zi’:: ALY laan 3L eitE EED gRsale oy Lo 1y

vaet, )iy 4 R aile e mw ate 4 deh pr

ST T = & Y2 ois P B iRl =slusty nify

M



Wessels:

Riess:
Wessels:

Riess:

Wessels:

and that the end of the world was to come quite a bit
later and that in the meantime certain things had to be
done. So she set about doing-them. She organized along
with others the Seventh Day Adventist Church. The health
part of their activities, setting up the hospitals--healthy
mind, healthy body, and all that sort of thing--is what
my father cazme to join when he came to America.

Now Doctor Anthony...

He was a graduate of the medical school at Battle Creek.
Why did your fatiher not want to set up things in South
Africa?

He did, he wanted to learn though, so he cume to Battle
Creek to learn. At the same time his brothers, Uncle
Francis, and much later, Uncle Andrew, also came. There
were eight brothers altogether and most of them became
Seventh Day Adventist in one way or another. One or two
of them did not. One is a liuwyer and lawyers are more
sceptical.

But at any rate, the family threw its fortunes into
this health movement. My father cume with the idea of be-
coxuing a doctor so he could do good, but his training was
financial and nis business ability was considered more
valuable, so he was persuaded to go into the business end,

organizing things and so on.

So my early childhood was spent on the move constantly.
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Wessels: Father was traveling around the world organizing institutions.
Riess: Nineteen-thirteen, when you were naturalized, wasn't the
time when he had first came over was it?
Wessels: No, that was much later, when dad was managing St. Helena
Sanitarium,

I had better jump back. My father met my mother in
Battle Creek when he was there and this was in 1893 or
1894. I came along about a year later and you have to
allow a certain amount of time. What happened was he
married her very much against the Kellogz hierarchy's
desires--they had better things in mind for him. Mother

OR "MATRON
was the chambermaid in charge of one wing of the hospital
and this was considered a marriage beneath father's station.
Riess: In spite of the fact that her brother was a doctor?
Wessels: Yes, for some reason or another. I understood that they
saw each other with great difficulty and they had to
practically elope.

At any rate; he married my mother and traveled around
the world for a year and then went back to South Africa,
where he organized and built a great sanitarium in
Claremont, South Africa and 1 was born in the process
of developing this institution. (This is my earliest
memory--wandering in the halls of the great building.

This was before the tragedy which occurred later.)
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10

Wessels: But we were very rich and after organizing the
sanitarium and getting it on its feet in South Africa,
Father set out for Australia. I won't go into all the
runnings to and fro. We went to France, England, to
California to see my mother's relatives again, back to
Africz again, and then from Africa to Australia. 1
don't remember those things except in the form of
various frepmentary childhood memories. I remember
sitting on a stack of baggage in a big, dark railroad
station and so on. I remember these little flashes.of
things. I was very young, but I was always with my
parents; I was not left behind. (As I say, I am trying
to shorten here, but if anything turns up that you want

to know about, ask.)

The Boer War

Anyway, we turned up in Australia where Father was
to organize a sanitarium. During this time the Boer War
broke out and Father's fortunes were very much menaced
because most of the family were on the wrong side of the
fence. He had to get back to South Africa to tend to
things immedizately and left my mother and myself behind.

My consciousness through a chain of events begins here.
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11

Wessels: I was about three at the time although I can go back
to one and a half with memories th.t are spotty.

Riess: How are you able to:go back?

Wessels: I was supposedly very unusuzl in being able to do this.
My mother told me that at the age of one and a half I
was able to read a few things and draw intelligibly
and so forth. So I have a pretty good recall. Today
this is useful to me in my painting. I have almost
total recall of things that I see.

What happened was that my father went back to South

Africa and the British. I must not appear to be prejudiced
because I have not got anything at all against the British
as people; but the people who were running the Boer
War appeared in a very bad light. They inevitably must
because it was very badly managed, shall we say, from
a humanitarian stundpoint. They put the Boer people in
concentration camps where they died off of yellow fever
and typhoid, 2nd they committed all sorts of atrocities
almost unwittingly such as soldiers do in war time.
These things loom large in our f.mily history und of course
ny grandmother spared no pains in making me hate the

"Roinecks" ("Rednecks"] as she called them (which I don't

do, but nevertheless it was a sad business for my family).
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Wessels:

12

As soon as my father arrived he was locked into jail.
He was unable to communicate with unyone or retrieve any-
thing. He sent helpless letters back to my mother in
Australia that the best thing to do was to return when she
could and at least they would be together during this
trying time. So my mother and I set out. We tried to
get passage on a steam-ship over the Indian Ocean, but
all the ships were troop ships. All the transportation
was being used for Australian troops going to South
Africa. So the only thing we could get on was an old
windjammer and this old windjamner was a tramp cargo ship
that sailed up around-the north of Australia and to
Singapore, bummed its way around the Bay of Bengal, then
from the tip of India sailed across the Indian Ocean to
Maodagascar and then down around the point to Cape Town.
This I remember pretty well.

I remeuber I was the pet of the ship; 1l the sailors
were good to me. I remember that when anything spectacular
or interesting showed up, I wa. always brought to see it,
8ven in the middle of the night, My mother woke me up one
time and said, "You must get up. You wust remember this.
The most beautiful thing has happened." She took me up
on the deck snd in the warm stillness of the night with

the bright moonlight shining on it, the whole sea was
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13

Wessels: covered with paper nautilas, flourescent and shimmering
over the whole sea. It looked like blue fire or something.
Then when the flyinz fish c.me abourd,I was hauled out of
my afternoon nap and taken on deck to be shown the flying
fish =nd so on.

I can reuenber leaning over the ship at Singapore
harbour and being amazed 2t the smell of the woter; the
Singavore sewage is sveciul. [Lauchter.] The fish loved
it <nd there were cunains of goldfish swimming =2round the
shiv. These vivid little i.oressions I don't think are
extraordinary except that they sesm to be » rticulorly
vivid to me. I remember that I have other ones that are
only flashbacks and not consistent like the ones I am
talking about now.

One of the earliest is of .4y grand other's house in
the suburd of Cape Town. Years loter I said, "Mother,
there is an image coming through ny mind cgain and again,
so nmuch so that I want to paint it, of a gate, kind of a
cattle corral gate of wood, with bushes of blue flowers
all growing up and red geruniums and pine trees in the
distance and green grass.™ I said, "WNow why should I

keep being haunted by this particular image?"
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She said, "That is where you vnlayed when you wvere
between one .nd two in your groncmother's b..ckyard."

So I have checked up on these imwres and L xnow that
they are authentic.

Anyway, when we srrived, my father was allowed to
mcet us under guard und we were taken to a little house
that we owned and we were mmmured there with guards
standing around the outside. The British were afraid
that ny father would comnunicote witli the Boers and
somehow or another »nut some of his resources to their
aid.

I must explain that the Boers were able to fight
vell bec..use they vere trained frontiersmen and very
skillful in the use of small arms .ncé they were getting
help, not really recognized help, but help f  .m across
Africa from the Germans who were sending them Mauser
rifles, which were superior to the British urms, all the
way from Central Africc from Egypt. So, they were able
to hold out for two yecrs under cireunstances that would
nave been impossible otherwise.

My family was very deeply engaged in this war.
General DeWet , who was one of the generals,was a relative
of ny grandmother's. General Botha, who later became
the first prenier of South Africa,was a relative of my

4

grandmother's. They uere 211 cousins or uncles nd so
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Wessels: forth. General Cromjie vwvas related. #£11 the veople who
. were deeply in the Boer side were related. So the
British were -laying it safe in keeping my futher holed
up. However, he himself beczuse of iis religicus ideas
was conmnletely pacifist.

Soon the British who had been guided by ambitious
Cecil Rhodes and his friend Joseph Chamberlain, realized
thet they were up a-ainst something that would not be
licked. DeWet was for =n honorable peace in which the
Boer people were to be ;;iven certain privileges of immunity
aznd so on. But the British wanted uncondition.l surrender
and they d¢id their very best to destroy the Boer
governuent or zny semblance of org.nization thut the Boers
might h:ve. They could not <o it s long.ag General
DeVWet kept the Boer gzovernment vut of their o nds. ZThe
word "comanndo" comes from thiis wor, that was the Boer
word for their troops, it means guerilla fighter, really,
and they all were. They had sw:ll groups of wounted men
wvho were able to live off the land ac they went and wuove
very vuickly from place to place. These were the conmundos.
General DeWet was i.. chirge of .. rather luorge group of
these people an:! in the niddle of their group of lLiorsemen

was a waron with fast horses unc in it was the Boer Precident,
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Wessels: noor old sick Presicdent Steyn, another relative! He was
the government; as long as they had him safe, they could
treat as a sepurate powere. If they lost him, then they
would have no nucleus for their governuaent. So there was
poor old President Steyn wiho was desverately sick at the
time, nd with a wagon full of doctors and nurses and that
was the Boer government.

Riess: A srubol?

Wessels; Yes, as long s they had a president, as long as they
aad a sovernment, they could hold out for a treaty, and
they did. They won thot; the British tried azuin and
again to crpture them, but with DeWet's skill as a
fignter, they esc.ped them every time. The British--it
reminds me =2 little bit of Vietnam--brought in more and
more troops. They shot away for each Boer killed 9 tons
of British amaunition! And, of course, I think the figure
was something like 12 ounces on the Boer side. That showms
you the relative efficiency. [Laughter]  They were just
steam rollered and they were holding out for an honorable
veace and this meant a lot. It meant that things could not
be confiscated and so on.

Well, I'll describe one maneuver. Where we were, the

news would come in an underground way and we would hear

what happened and we heard one time about the British
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Wessels: having comnletely surrounded DeWet's band =znd the wagon
on the veld and they thought for a while that all was
lost, but the Boers discovered that a huge herd of wild
cattle had 2lso been enclosed in the sreat British circle
so they zot in the middle of the herd of wild catile and
stamneded them through the British camp <+ night and
esceped oand then it went on for znother year or so.

And I can renember as a suzll child being very proud
of my racej; you know how that sort of thing would effect
a voungster. But at any rate, they held out 2nd taey
had zn honorable vneace and the first premier of South
Africa as a dominion state was General Botha, my grandmother's
cousin.

Riess: I'd like to know what you remember about your fumily's
feelinzs «bout Africans.

Wessels: I came from a household in which an indefinite n.mber of
Negroes were in service. 9o f had very much the same buck-
ground as the Southern plantétion versorn might have in his
relationship with the blacks--~who definitely were believed
to be an inferior race and so on. This, of course, remains
part of the apartheid difficulty.

I, however, decveloped an affection for these
veople as a child. They played with me; they nursed me;

they took care of me and so on, and it had an opposite
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essels: effect on me .nd I always loved thewm very uuch. As a
recial croup, wlthough there ~re individu«l variations,
I hove always had a strong offection for them as people.

I am at the oprosite end, personclly,on the opposite

side of the apartheid thing. I think that this is a
terrible thing... I symoathize wit: the present situation
(Southern Rhodesia, 1966) because the black outnumbers
the white over 100 to one and if they had politicil power,
the whites would be snowed under. This sets up terrific
problems, In spite of the fuct that I believe in democracy,
I realize there that it might just have ine sime disastrous
effect as it ..ad in the COngo.' * thinic this is whut

the white vpeovsle are wfraid of. LEven the ones with u more

idealistic w» roach to the racial problem are wfraid. This

is one of the thiings that produces avaritneid, as I understund

it.
Riesss So the solutions are 2ll in gradual kinds of actions?
Wessels: The only thing that I could see wo:ild be graducl action.

It seems that the extremists on both sides have delayed,
if not made imvossible, these adjustaents. ; fear and look
for a blood bath of soume sort and the e: termination of the

South African whites and I think they feel it too. What
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little communication I have with that part of the world
seems to all confirm this idea., The white men do not
go out onto the streets at nights unless they are armed,
a state of siege, really,
Were there very many housekeeping people taking care of
you?
Yes, quite a large number, In those days they were
sort of like slaves, though not exactly, because they
were paid, My grandfather freed all his slaves, but
when he did the chief of the tribe who 1ived on the
ranch came to him and said, "Well, boss, what do we do
now?"

"Well, you are free; you can go away if you want."

"But we do not want to go away."

My grandfather said, "Well, this is the way it is.
You work so many hours per day and for each hour I give
you so much mealies. [corn] And I give you the privilege
of living in your kraal [in your little compound of huts]
in return for your work,"

The head man said, "Well, what is the difference
about it?"

"T can not explain it to you but it is different.

Anyway, you are free. You can go away if you want teo."
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The head man said, "But we do not want to go away,
and you give us our mealies anyway."

So that was the way they solved the social problem
of being free.

4

Was there any problem about religion «n¢ sleve holding?
The Boers interpreted the Seriptures clear back to
Noah. DNoah, if you look in the 01d Testament, ccme
out of the Ark and he had three sons and one of then,
Ham, was black. Noah ot drunk and more or less disgraced
himself and his son Ham m:de fun of him and laughed at him.
For this, when Noah got well aguin, he told his son that
he ha. to work it hard labor t0o make up for the insult
that he had given his father. This is tzken «, a directive
for the blucks from then on because Ham was suposedly
the progenitor of all the black r .ces just as Shem was the
progenitor of all the Semite races, and Japheth is the
progenitor of the rest, I guess. I don't know. This does
correspond roushly to what I understand of the rather vague
history of the spread of the hum:in race from the Mesopotamian
Delta. Ham was condemned to slavery by tne Bible so the
apartheid people use the Scripture as backing.

Now we are back to the end of the war, 1)02. My father

then tried to retrieve his fortunes He had



" l.l.l. - ....l . - .

-_.:;-.J:r" 3
T = .
?. - 'ﬂl--:..-l.ll l I

- N L
-I'I.-.ﬁ-l-l-l.l'-' "

| I | |
E St Y S LT ol Y, LR
- !-.'__ ne B ) NN R

wri g e e
.. -,
[ | -.:-



21

Wessels: put a great deal of his money in buildings and these had
been confiscated for British war offices and all this
art of thing, and upkeep was simply not considered. They
were ruined.

Riess: These were sanitariums?

Wessels: No, business buildings. The sanitarium was the only thing
that was really kept up because that was used as a
British hospital. But he was practicclly bankrupted,
not quite, Lecause these office building® were in such a
state of disrepair. The whole ar:za underwent a state of
real depression, taings finuncizlly were at a standstill,
so father lost a lot of his propert; at that time. Byt
he patched things together the best that he could and it
was decided that we would come to California wiicre mother's
relatives were.

Riess: Did you have any brothers .nd sisters?

Wessels: No, my mother lost a child in Australia probably due to
the worry and disturbonces. There was no child until another

sister luter.
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CHILDHOOD AND SCHOOLING IN CALIFORNIA

We came to St, Helené, Napa County, where my mother
had a brother, The idea was the Father would stay here
for awhile and then go back to South Africa and try to
pick up the family fortunes again. My Uncle Johnny
taught school at the Crystal Springs school in Pratts
Valley and that is where I hed my first formal schooling.
Before that I had a French governess, but now I go to the
first grade and at that time I'm very good at reading
and very bad at arithmetic, (which has dogged me all the
rest of my life).

Did you have a second language?

My mother was afraid that I might pick up a Boer accent
which was pretty vile to her. She insisted that I learn
only good English., (I much later learned German rather
well) And I am able to understand, I have always been
able to understand, "Afrikasans" but I can not speak it,
Father spoke with an accent and Mother was very afraid
that I would get an accent too, so she insisted that I
speak only English. I think it was a mistake., But
nevertheless that is the way it was,

So we are now in Pratts Valley near St. Helena, Napa
County, which is really the place I think of when I think
of a childhood home, All the South African things happened
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Wessels: when I was so young that it seems almost like a vivid
a-eauw, Healiey vegau ior me, L think, 1rignv up here in
Napa County. I went to this little green schoolhouse with
eight grades in it. My uncle taught it. He was my mother's
brother. We lived in a garden house near there. My father
did not stay very long after he saw that Mother was safely
settled and everything was going all right. He went back
to South Africa and stayed for four years trying to pull
his fortunes’together.

During this time the family became poorer and poorer
and it became evident to Mother that she was going to have
to do something to help out because Father was unable to
get any money out of anything in South Africa.

Riess: How about the rest of the family?

Wessels: All of them in various ways underwent difficulty. Things
were tied up legally; they had gone into bankruptecy; veople
who owed them mortgages could not pay them., Anybody who
had investments suffered particularly; they had no fluid
cash. They might own the place but they could not pay
the taxes, you see, and that sort of thing,.

Poor Father stayed there and wrestled with the
gituation but he was not able to send money. Mother,
who was a practical soul and who never really thought of
herself as a rich woman at all, said, "Well, I know how.

to do a lot of things; I am going to go where I can
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earn some money." So we moved to Mountain View where
the Seventh Day Adventist organization was building an
institution called the Pacific Press Publishing Company,
which is still; I think, at Mountain View. She was
determined to go there and run a boarding house for
several contracting people who were building this thing.
So the next I remember is that my grandmother on my
mother's side and my mother had a boarding house for
the contractors and the carpenters who were building
Pacific Press in Mountain View. And I went to school
in Mountain View during that time. I would be probably
in the third or fourth grade.

Mother later on guve up the boarding house business
which did very well and she was able to build a house
to suit her and she began teaching music. She was a good
pianist and she sang. My mother's side of the family-~I
guess it is the Welsh strain coming out--they were always
singing. My memory of my mother is a person who was
always singing while she was working. So she taught
music and was very active in everything that had to do
with musical affairs. I can reuember sitting as a young-
ster between two grand vianos on which four women wvere
hemmering out Tannhauser's Grand March and I thought it
was the most wonderful thing in the world. I've always

loved to sit.rxight in the middle of a band! I cannot
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think of a musical experience which tops it and I have
been to0 many concerts since. [Laughter] At home music
was going on all the time, all day. There was somebody
practicing or singing or somebody rehearsing for
something all the time. And my mother was in the thick
of it.

Who were the other somebodies who were in the house?
Our family group consisted of my grandmother, my mother,
and myself, and for a time a cousin on my mother's side
who lived there.

This went on, a happy smell town life with Father
sort of receding in the distance; I hardly remembered
him except for occasional letters.

Then one day my mother felt unaccountably ill with
a very sudden migraine. She was really in distress and
seemed t0 be upset in a way that the doctor could not
figure out. We were all upset and couldn't figure out
what was the matter with her. I think it was that night
that a telegram came that Father's last property had burned
to the ground andthat he himself was in the hospital in
a state of shock. It was a very strange thing that she
should have responded thus at the same time. I've always
wondered about ESP.

This then made it evident that it was no use for
him to stay any longer; he had lost everything. He had

i
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barely enough fare to get home. Mother's little nest egg
that she had built up was all that the family had.

Was this the sanitarium which had burned?

Yes.

At this time another thing happened which quite
literally shook us all up and that was the San Francisco
earthquake. It hit particularly hard in Mountain View
and destroyed the house that Mother built. We lived
outside in the ordhards for awhile, and then we again,
went to Uncle Johnny's place in St. Helena and there
again I had fun playing with my cousin, John Elwyn Anthony.
He and I were like brothers in those days. Now we are
very far from one another; we hardly see each other. (He,
by the way, is the Barney in Barney's Beanery that has
recently been in the news. [Kienholz sculpture] And the
name Barney was my nick-name first. I gave it to him
and I will wexplain later how that happened. I was the
original Barney of Barney's Beanery. He came out of the
Navy and took it over and I went to art school. I was
running a restaurant +43il1l then, in order to put myself
through art school at the time. (Well, I will tell you
about that later.)

I told you it would sound fantastic, but to go back

to the San Francisco earthquake, it was useless to stay
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in Mountain View any longer and my father was coming
home. My mother felt that if she retreated from the
defeat of Mountain View to her long-suffering brother's
home that things would be better, so we went there and
stayed with Uncle Johnny's family for awhile. Oh; I
didn't say that before we went to Mountain View my mother
went to a hospital in San Francisco and brought home my
little sister Jean who is seven years younger than I am.
This was approximately eight months or so after my
father had left for Africa. 8o part of my fun was helping
bring up my little sister in Mountain View, playing together
and so forth in spite of the fact that she was much
younger. I taught her to ride a bike, to swim, I taught
her how to do everything I could do. We are still very
close; she is a doctor now is Placerville. ZPRart of the
life at Mountain View was the delight of this little sister.
We moved back to St. Helena and then something
bappened that probably had a traumatic effect on me and
had a good deal to do with my later life. 1 was playing
on the hillside with some youngsters and one of them threw
a stick. It put out my left eye. I was very ill and
blind for quite a while. My father came back to find that
the son he had...he had .always cherished the idea that I
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Wessels: would become a great doctor and what it amounted to was
that here I was probably incapable of being anything.
The poor man had had enough suffering, goodness knows,
and here was another trouble. I developed feelings of
l yejection as you can well imagine.
I had had comparative freedom with my mother and
a normal childhood development. Then when my father came
back he was a ruined man financially, completely frustrated,
everything that he had worked for and thought worth-
while seemed to be dissolving and I was part of it. So
I got kind of a feeling of alienation from him which I
have always regretted although we later became friendly
again, But I always felt that he had very little sympathy
for me or anything that I did and it was only in the
last years of his life that we changed that.
| The only thing that my father could do then was to
work as business manager for the same organization that
he had so heavily endowed earlier--he was a skilled
hospital manager. They had several hospitals which were
not doing very well. One was in San Diego in Paradise
Valley so we moved there from St. Helené and Father set
to work rebuilding the Paradise Valley Sanitarium. My

Cousin Pete and Uncle Andrew had come at the same time
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Wessels: as my father. We stayed there for a year and a half and
during that time 1 was recovering from the operations on
my eye, 1 had had several. Finally the eye had to be
removed. The operation was done by the same uncle who
brought Seventh Day Adventism to South Africa, who was now
a well known surgeon in Fresno. My life at this time
besan to open up in a curious way.

Riess: Were you more or less bedridden?

Wessels: No; but I was kept out of school and had to amuse myself.
So, I began reading a lot. When 1 got my vision back, it
seemed important to look at things and read. I was given
a library card at a rather early age. And I'm afraid
this developed my leanings toward agnosticism and so
forth. I discovered in books a world that I did not know
existed and it seemed to be a much larger world than the
world of ideas in which my family lived. I would smuggle
books home and read them at night with my electric light
under the covers. I generally became kind of liberal
beyond ny years--if you know what 1 mean. 1 was reading

H. G. Wells' Tono Bungay a2nd things of that sort.

Riess: How did you get steered to these things?
Wessels: I was not steered; I found them. I went to the library
shelf and picked out a book arbitrarily and tried to

read it. If it went well, then fine. <+ found out that
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H.G. Wells had a lot to give me so 1 read everything.
Then you did not talk about these things with your
parents?
No, I knew very well that they had 2 ri;id Lutheran and
Seventn Day Adventist attitude towards religion. My
motner mot so much, she had an Irish sense of humor and
a2 kind of jolly scepticism which she herself was afraid
of--she felt that she was too liberul and that she should
be more relisious, she could not believe everything
implicitly the way that my father could. But at any
rate there was an increasing alienatio~ which began about
then because I began to see that I could not believe some
of the things that they did, and that their ambitions
were not rny cmbitions .t all.
What were their ambitions?
They wanted me to become a doctor =and I had a growing
confiction thot I wanted to be a painter. This seemed
to be no career in my father's eyes and he thought it
was nonsense. 90 this slowly built up through the years
until I ran away from home to become a painter--~that is
all there was to it. But back to Paradise Valley.

In Paradise Valley I was not well and not in school
and since all the other kids were in school znd I needed

a friend to play with, I found a large Mexican macaw
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Wesselst that was flying wild and this has i portunce, although it
may not seem to have importunce, becuuse it resulted in
ny getting ny very first job as a comizercial artist
when I zot out of art school! I drew the first parrot
for the Ghiradelli ads!

Riess: What do you remember as your first experience with art?

wessels: One of ny earliest memories is that my mother was
recording Souta African wildflowers in water color and
2t the end of her period of painting, I had the great
joy of being allowed to mess with the pallette and paint
for myself. This is my first conscious effort at using
art material. The joy has never left re.

I think that the joy and expectati-n at the end of
her painting period riust hove bec.me pretty firmly ingrained
bec use I i :ve always loved to just manipulate paint.

And I think that is where it began.

Ricss: I had no idea that your mother was artistic.

Wessels:? In a very Audubon style, very careful rendition of South
African plants. I still have them and they are still
beautiful. In the family, the tendency to express oneself
in terms of visual art crops up on a non-professional
way on both sides. A couple of my uncles drew and
painted for pleasure. “lmost all of my mother's side of

the family did at one time or another. None of them
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made a_profession out of it, but it was considered clever.

My Uncle Richard; the one who went to South Africa
to bring religion to the Boers, was a good enough charcoal
portraitist to draw pictures of his captors while he
was in the British concentration camp and he got very
good treatment from them , on account of this. In fact
it was thought that this led to his eventual release;
rather than being shot, but I don't know how true that
is. Anyway there is sort of a natural bent toward this
sort of thing, particularly on my mother's side but it
21so cropped up on my father's side. Not in my father
himself, but in some of his brothers. So I had an
early exposure.

But actually on account of the life, religion, and
pnilosophy of the family and the pioneer values which they
adhered to, art was something not to take seriously. It
was a plaything; it was a pleasure perhaps, but that was
all. Although it was there in the pioneer standard of
values, it just didn't butter any parsnips", that is all.
It was not valuable. .

What kinds of paintings and things were around the home?
Pretty much Victorian type. I had lots of picture books,

pretty much the candy box, Mother Goose illustrations and
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things of that sort. My mother's paintings were the only
ones that I remember being around the home. She painted
romantic scenes, ruined castles at twilight and that

sort of thing occasionally. Some of these tal..gs were
around for a long time.

They must have been good if she thought they were good
enough to hang them.

She never had 2ny lessons that I know of but she was
pretty good at it. In her later yeurs her chief delight
was hooking these things in her rugs. And for a long

time I treasured these sort of semi-primitive treatments
of things. For instance, onc time I went up to Shasta
Dam when it was being built and Mother,from her imagination
recreated the scene in a hook rug. This was when she

was eighty. I suppose you are asiking for evidence of sonme
kind of fomily tpait here and I think there was plenty of
it, partic¢ularly on my wu>ther's side, and to o lesser
degree on ny father's side.

When you beceme successful, did you find that your

parents were saying; "Oh, yes," remenbering seeing the
signs all along the way?

In the later years, although I don't think they recognized
anything I did as successful, they did recognize the

fact that other people thought so, so they s:id, "Well,
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we just did not understand these things." That was their
attitude then. In fact ny father in is last years when

I was teaching here at the University and he was terribly
impressed, particularly with the salary, said, "Well, you
know; if we had only known; we did not understand these
things. In our day we did not volue these things."

As you grew older, did you go out and sketch and things
like that?

Oh; I always did. I led the most elaborate imaginative
life as a child. All the books I read, I illustrated. I
found some of them a few years ago. And in the margins
and fl?leafs; I inserted pieces of paper, every event
illustrated in detail. Everything that I read I turned
into pictures. With pencil, with water cclor or what have
you. That was all during ﬁy early childhood.

1 always excelled in the little art exercises in
grammar s8chool. There would be a day when we would be
supposed to paint. During the time allowed to painting,

I was usually able to turn out my work and that of about
half a dozen other people. I traded them for arithmetic
problems. [Laughter] This was my first venture into
commercial art! I was able to make passable »nictures for

ny seatmates in school, znd for these _ they were happy to
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do my arithmetic problens.
And did you have different styles for everybody? [Laughter]l
No, I don't think I was that intelligent.

You know, when my father came back and discovered that
I was a very sick and apparently useless youngster who was
probably going to be an invalid, partly blind, I think that
this brought a good kind of a stubborn resistence in me
that I would see very well. I found that I was looking
harder at things than ever before. All during the period
of convalescence I kept being curious about what I saw.

It seemed to focus mr attention on vision to an extent

that had never occurred before. 1 discovered that with

one eye I could do things that neople did not think I could.
I could »nlay tennis, for instance. I could judge the
nosition of the ball if I could only move my nead guickly
encugh to get bifocal vision. I kept making these little
tricky exneriments to find out how ruch I could see and

how normal I could be with secing.

At this time it secmed to be just a natural atiempt to
adapt to a difficult circumstance but I see now that it did
heve a very definite effect of making me vision-conscious
to an extent which I had never been before.

After Father ut the Paradise Valley Sanitagiﬁm on its



IR b

|
]
Fos "=l »

III-I




Wessels?®

36

financial féet and so was given a larger ccmmission, a
larger institution, also more important financially, we
moved to Glendale outside of Los Angeles, where he pro-
ceeded to do the same. troubleshooting job as he had done
in San Diego.

My schooling began first in a chtirch school, but now
there was no Adventist high school near-by so I went to
Glendale High School which probably furthered the ruination
which had been begun by H.G. Wells and so forth. In other
words;nm' secular edueation began there. Before that time
I had been pretty much in church schools. Any rebellion
that I had was strictly private and very much kept to myself.
But here the outside world opened up to me again. Ve
stayed at Glendale until Father got that institution on its
feet. I had a year of high school in Glendale and was just
beginning to swim in these new waters when Father was called
to aid the St. Helena Sanitarium in Pratts Valley where
we had previously lived so it was like coming home again.

While there I went to the St. Helena High School. By
this time I had developed, what shall I say, a grasp of events
so that in the St. Helena High School,rather to my own
surprise, I became the president of the student body, judge
of the student court, and editor of the student paper all

at once.






Riess:

Wessels:

Riess:

Wessels:

Riess:

Vessels:

Riess:

Wessels:

37

Amazing--how did your parents féel about this?

They were rather proud of me. Oh, I also was head of the
debating team. At any rate, this showed that I had been
developing somewhat as a person and was overcoming the

early difficulties. I rather think that this was over-
compensation--it was very hard to achieve. 2 particularly
sympathetic high school principal had s mething to do with
this too.

Do you think that this made you more acceptable to your
father?

I think not. He was not intellectual; he never was.
Intellectual achievement did not mean much to him. Financial
achievement did; nracticality as he called it.

Not the social, popular kind.

Well; it was not in his social circle. You see, I joined

in 2nd went places, and made friends, but most of the
Adventist people remained in their own Seventh Day Adventist
group. They were called the "cracker-eaters" by the local
people.

Why?

Health food; they had their own health food factory. I was
brought up on granola, which is an earlier form of grapenuts!
Yes, my varents thought I was doing pretty well in

school. I was getting grod grades and that sort of thing.

My mother was pleased, yes, but my father did not have nuch
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time to give me; he worked terribly hard; he drove himself.
He was always haunted by the idea that he had lost his
fortune and he wanted to get back there again. He was

a man I hardly ever saw; he worked all the time. He had

no social life at all. He just worked and came home and
fell in bed, that is all.

Was your mother still teaching piano, and so on?

No, she did not teach anymore. She was busy with the family,
keeping it together and keeping Father well. He was not

too well and was always driving himself very hard.

But again, you see, I am more or less on my own and
making the grade at St. Helena High School. These were
relatively happy times because when a kid is accepted and
gets recognition, achieves and so forth, it is good for
the little ego. Everything was going swimmingly. I was the
leader in my own set and not only that,I made a place for
myself on the town band and was tootleing a baritone horn.
You know, all the things that a kid in high school would
want to do.

So it was something of a shock when my father, whose
practical sense did not always agree with the idealistic
sense of the ministerial elements in the Seventh Day Adven-
tist Church who had a part in running this institution--

Fathet wanted to do certain things, and I will not go into
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all of it; but he did not want to spend money for certain
things, he wanted the institution to be financially

sound -~ they disagreed with him and the disagreement
resulted in his resignation. He resigned from the St.
Helena'Sanitarium and we came down to Berkeley and that
is how I got here.

Was this sort of a period of trouble for the family? Do
you remember discussions of things like the resignation
and so on?

Yes, there were lots of them.

This was all shared among the family?

Father would tell us all about it. t was a feeling in
his conscience that the institution had to be financially
sound regardless of what idealistic enterprise it was
engaged in. He was not going to sacrifice the soundness
of the institution so he resigned.

Mother accepted it. We ciame down here and they bought
with their slender funds, I suppose with a good deal to
pay off, the apartment house which formerly stood at the
corner of Telegraph and Bancroft, the "Berkshire". My
very first introduction to the University began there.

In those days, the area wiich w:s Sather Gate had nothing
there but a couvle of litte stores. Sather Gate was the

edge of the campus.
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Wessels: They ran the apartment house therec and I went to
Berkeley High School. We all .orked very hard. There
was a mortgage on it and all that. Father, as usual;
worked very hard toward financial security. I worked
mopping and dusting and doing all the things that it takes
to keep the anartment going.

Riess: In high school did you confide your interest in becoming
as artist to anybody?

Wessels: Oh; other things deflected my energies in that direction.
I think I did- draw for the student magazine but I've forgotton
about it. Drawing was just part of life, like tootleing
instruments.

Riess: Did you have an art te~cher in aigh school?

Wessels: Well, yes; tut they always kept me busy doing posters.
They just used what ability I had. I would come into the
art class and other people would be drawing but they would
say, "Glenn, the basketball team needs a poster. You do
that." I really had not had any art training formally at
all. I could draw and paint after a fashion but it was
immediately put to use rather than training me. It did
not occur to me that I could get a job anywhere being an
artist and I probably would not have anyway.

Riess: It must have been sad to leave St. Helena.

Wessels: Yes, it was a kind of halcyon period, I was getting a
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feeling of importunce and being a part of things. All
this was associated with St. Helena and Pratts Valley

in my mind. Then coming down to Berkeley, I found myself
lost. I came into a school where the students had com-
pletely different interests than mine. The only outlet:
that I had at all was the bass horn, which did let me join
the school band and which later got me into this little
combo that was playing an early form of jazz. The pianist
was Horace Heidt, and his band was formed right there. I
played the bass in the first Horace Heidt bund! Our first
date was during the musicians strike at the Claremont Hotel.

I did that only for a short while because my parents
g0t wise to what was going on and felt that for their son
to become a jazz gusician was the end and they could not
have it so I was forbidden. This was cut off; I have
always been an ardent Dixieland follower ever since, but
my career was cut short.

I later came to the University of California and joined
the military band and in those days the R.0.T.C. used to
parade down by where the Life Sciences Building is now.
They had a big day called the president's parade. I had
been sick, in the hospital with housemaid's knee, to tell

you the truth, from wrestling. I came out and the band
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leader insisted thut he had to have me because I was the
only one who could play the bass while marching. 1 played
more Or 1e§s by ear and they had a particularly hard

piece and he couldn't depend on the other bass to play
those chromatic runs in the piece =38 they were going to
play for this great day.

Somewhat weak and shaky but nevertheless able to
tootle; I came out of the hospital, donned the bass horn
and was confronted by a piece of band music that I nag
never seen before in my life and in my effort to hit all
the notes, with the breeze blowing and the music plopping
this war and that as you marched, I fixed my attention on
playing sothoroughly that I did not hear the band leaders
whistle for reversing--the conventions are that you march
and then someone goes "tweet; tweet" and you count "one,
two" and then turn around and go in the other direction.

I did not hear the "tweet, tweet" so I kept on going and
ran into the oak tree and shoved all my front teeth down
my throat. So that ended my life as a bass player. [Laughéer]

It was very funny. Everyone, I believe, even President

Barrows, laughed, but I just kept on going off into the

brush and that was the end of my music career.
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SOME VOCATIONAL SIDE-TRACKS

Pre-med Student

Wessels: I graduated from Berkeley High and my father absolutely
insisted that I register in pre-med courses at the
University of California, so I did. I fumbled, I got by,
I was mediocre to good, but I did it with great effort and
had the increasing feeling that I was a fish out of water.

Riess: Were you liking sciences at all?

Wessels: Yes; in a curious way I found myself attracted to some areas
but not others. Anything that w:s visual I seemed to be
good at, but a lot of things were pretty hard,  For instance;
I was good in chemistry so far as I could diagram the
molecules and things of that sort , but I was a fish out
of water when it cume to theory that could‘not be visualized.
I did not k ow that at that time but I see now that it was
true.

This all came to a climax in a course in comparative
zoology. We were doing dissections and I was particularly
awkvard in dissecting. I kept thinking--God help the
humans that I have to operate on! But it came to a climax

when a certain instructor in comparative zoology cnalled me
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Wessels: into his office and said, "Wessels, for sone time I have noted
the excellence of the drawings in your notebook. d

(This was a particularly stuffy teacher, I still think of

him as that.) He said, "You are copying those drawings

from some text, but I have not yet been able to find the

text with the original drawings." He said, "Those are

suprosed to be the original drawings taken from the material

and no one could mcke such good drawings from such bad

material as you prepare. Hence you must be copying them

from some book I can't find."

I said, "But those are my drawings".

He said, "Well; we will test it. There is a microscope;
look in there and draw what you see and I'll be able to tell
whether you really drew it or not."

So I looked into the microscope and I made a drawing
of what I saw there and he looked at it and said, "By
George, you can do it!" He thought a minute and said, "I
tell you ; you are so bad at dissecting that I would not
have. passed you; but I'm writing a book on shark scales
and I need a lot of line drawings of shark scales. Now you
know that from the nose of the shark to the end of the tail,
each ring of scales varies slightly and I want every tenth

scale all the way down to the tail, So, if you will do

this for me, I will pass you in zoology."
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Well, I drew the shark scales until I was blind and
in the process I came to the great discovery that if I
had to pay my way through courses by making drawings; why
didn't I become an artist-illustrator? It was evident that
this was the thing I could do best and that I should get
at it, but I still had no clear idea about how I was to
eat by it.

So again I raised the subject with my father that I
wanted to become an artist. He was very angry and
terribly upset and said artists live in garrets and they
starve and it is ali very impractical, you won't be of
any use to the world,and all the usual things that pioneer
parents said about artists and poets came out. So that

was that.

0il Field Work

Finally thingsibame to sort of an impasse. I became
so dissatisfied and feeling so frustrated and futile about
the whole thing that I so0ld my horn to get enough money
to leave home on. First I tried to enlist; this was during
the period of the First World War. The eye accident though

put me into 4-F so I could not enlist. They said, however,

]
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that I could work in essential special industry.

¥ said; "Where would that be?"

They said, "In the Californiz oil field work."

I hod some friends down there and so I sold my horn
and 1lit out for Coalinga and Kettleman Hills and to make
a long story short, I became a tool-dresser in the o0il
fields~--one of those men who works up in the derricks. It
was discovered that I could climb well so I worked with the
steel cables and the blocks and pulleys in the top of the
0il derricks for two years and finally progressed to a
toolie job. There were pleading letters fr.m home to come
back home to reconsider. Finally, I had a little accident,
not too serious. An o0il well blew up and I broke up a hand
so I did come home. I might have been an oil driller,
eventually, if I had stayed! (Sometimes I wish I had!)
Your career as an artist definitely seems to have gone on
despite all the major calamities that one would think of.
Well, you could hardly calliit a career; it was a compulsion.

I was not even aware of it myself.

Newspaper Reporter

I don't find any kind of advisors cropping up along the way,

anyone that you could really...
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There weren't any. The people that my family happened
to know had¢ the some values. I led 2 life comrmaratively
apart from the whole comwmunity .ntil we finazlly came to
Berkeley and then that was changed. I had lived pretty
much in the community of people with my parent's religion
and in their work, and church znd all this sort of thing,
this was the life. I was alone in it for the last years,
reading and dreaming all sorts of atheistic thoushts, and
being absolutely isoliuted. I we. lost until I finally
decided to finc the way nyself.
So I c-me beck i ome and after a futile attempt on

the part of my parents to m ke me iuto 2 minister by
sending me to a theological school, the Seventh Day Adventist
theological school-~they thought some expert ir gooa doc-
trine would reconvert me, but no--then I came down to
Berkeley and my father thought maybe I could go to business
school. S0 I learned how to typewrite but I was not very
good 2t figures so I quit that and got a job on the old

Call Bulletin.

I still was not aware that a person could earn one's
living by drawing and painting but I got this job as a
circulation man and cub reporter at §18 a week. Part

of my duty was circulation. I revorted murders and ran



wall

——

B FLELE Y I
= " C.T AR .
'-I.J.H-"JJ"'_IIE"

_;g:*-‘m'.’;.

L g -r

,:.-'il'- T
S | 1|"|r|'," - 'i..- FH

. .'-I' 'J'-ﬁll-l'l-.':"l.-.'-.-lr o

-._l.—l

\ :_. ey r.-E.;"

1 ..:.i‘ 1! .'II
B : E ol B
EE

r'.,T;.-: Al " il 4 lII.I:I A'_" :2
n

Ta g "'f.e'l
£ ;,'.:-':'l_ A e
Rk



Wessels?

Riess:

Wessels:

48

the circulation dep:rtment over in the Butchertown area,
San Francisco; Islais Creek area out Petrero way; on the .
way to San Bruno. I stayed on this job a short time.

Did this mean living away from home?

Oh yes; by this time I had left home and was living in
Berkeley on Durant Avenue with four other boys. Two of
them were also renegades from a theological school, and
one of them was an awfully good cook. This later lead to
our starting Barney's Beanery in Berkeley.

But soon I left the newspaper because--this is a very
quickly changing period --while I was beginning to be a
cub reporter I was disturbed, things did not seem quite
right somehow; I was getting by but I did not know if this
was my c:reer or not and I wanted to find ouat. I got an
appointment with the editor finally,after great difficulty.
I wanted to know whether he thought I was really doing
a good job or not; whether this was where I should work.
It was getting time for me to settle down and decide what
I wanted to do in life and was this it--that is what I
vanted to find out. Was I a newspaper man?

The poor man was a little astonished =2t the question.
He reached over into a waste basket of wet COpy paper
all smeared up with ink =znd he shoved it right in my face
and said, "Does that smell good?"

I said, "Well, no. Not particularly."
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He said; "Then you don't belong here."

You know; this put an idea into my head, though:
you should do the kind of work that you find you can do
with the least pain to yourself. ©So I thought well,
heck; John Argens, cartoonist down in the newspaper's
art department ,had said, "If you only go to night school
and learn how to draw a little bit and come back; I will
give you a job." (He had been giving me little jobs to do
for him on the newspaper.)

So I said; I am going to take the big step; I am
going to art school in spite of my parents. I was sort
of out of communication with them cnyway by now. Now,

how?

Strikebreaker

Well; fhe first waterfront strike was paying inmense
wages for strikebreakers and I went down to the waterfront
and found myself on a gang with a bunch of thugs and
juvenile delinguents who were unloading the cargoes at
strikebreaker's pay. I worked there almost three months
and got up enough money so that I could go to art school

full time for maybe about two years. What really dis-

couraged me about stevedoring was that 1 was not able to
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move fast enough when they dropped a cotton bale and 1
zot a little squeezed. ©So I decided that now was the
time to »nick up my winnings and leave.

Were you a tough kind of kid or what?

Oh, not really. I am really = timid soul. I really have
gotten through the world mainly by diplomacy, and by
adjustment rather than by fighting. I will fight if

I am in a corner and I have usuzlly been successful

at it but I don't like it.

One occasion, since you bring tuis up, I will give
a2 typical illustration. I had been a pretly good weestler
in the University gym. In fuct I made the wrestling team—-
freshman wrestlingteam--but broke my knee and so never got
a chance to do anything with it, »ut I had been a pretty
good wrestler.

Once in the oil ficlds I was coming up a little
steirway to the bunk house and coming down was a particularly
large, particularly toush truck driver who everyone was
afraid of‘ when he becazme a little bit inebriated. And
I was starting up and he was starting down and the first
thing I knew I was confronted by this large hunk of a
man. I was all for giving way but he thought that I was
not giving way fast enoush so he swung «t me and I don't
know what caused it, but I suw red and grappled with him

and we broke the bannister and went down to the ground.
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The next conscious moment as far as I was concerned I
had him in the body scissors a2nd he was groaning. My
wrestling training had come to the surface and quite
unconsciously I followed through. He was groaning and

I thousht maybe the fall had hurt him, but apparently

I was squeezing too hard. I said, "Now if you will lay
off I will let you up." He could not ewen say anything.
He just rolled over and was sick! So I helped the poor
guy to bed and got hot cloths to put on his sore back.

He got over his inebriation and his back-ache about
the same time and the next day he went all around the camp
saying; "Look out for that guy; he is one of the toughest,
quietist fishters I ever saw. Don't touch him, he is
dvnamite." [ Lauchter]

Since there was only one bathtub in the whole bunk-
house, of 25 rooms, there was a tremendous line for the
bathroom on Saturday night because we went around all
the week smeared with crude oil. It got into your pores
and you really had to first mop yourself off with kerosene
and then with what they called "sweet-0il" which was
engine oil; and then maybe you could get it off with soap

and hot water. Then you could get enough out of your
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Wessels: pores so that you could wear a wiite shirt. This all
took time, and the bathroom on Saturday nights was in
tremendous demand. If you stiyed in the bathroom too
long, people would bang on tne door. But no one ever
banged on the bathroom door when I was in theref | Laughter]
I was very grateful to my truck driver friend for estab-
lishing a re»nutation w.ich nrotected me and it has al-
ways been more or less that way. I have never had to
fight very much. When I did it usually came out okay.

Well, let me see. Where were we? We got off the
trock a bit.

Riess: You had the money to go to art school.

Wessels: I had a toothbrush moustache and a hard derby hat, the
tough appearance which the strike breakers cultivated in
order to protect themselves, because when you stepped off
the pier you were very apt to be attacked by people. So
you swaggered and threw out your chest, tipped the derby
down over.one eye and scowled as well as you could. This
was your protection. I showed up in this garb at the old
8chool of Arts and Crafts in Berkeley on Center Street
where Mrs. Meyer was the secretary in the office and 1
came in and declared that I had money enough to go there
for two years so I was going to have to go through there

in two yezrs although it was a four-year curriculum. She

was so frirhtened of me that she nore or less assented.
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Sk

She szid, "Okay, we'll try it and see what you can do."
The upshot of the matter was that two years later I was

teaching. I had done very well.

Barney's Beanery in Berkeley

During this time I was living with some other
friends in a little backyard cottage down here on
Durant near Ellsworth. We put our wits together as to
what we could do to increase our incomes. One of the
boys was an excellent cook, as I said. I was in art
school at that time and learning about advertising art--
and I thought we could probably run a restaurant and slant
it in such 2 way that it would appeal to the college boys
who did not then seem to have a proper f=eemgathering
place. So Doc Watson (the cook) who is now in engineering
in Hollywood someplace and Harry Beckberger who was
another friend from the theological school, and I started
Barney's Beanery.

It was my brainstorm that what we would do was serve
a very inexpensive plate of beans and this would be the
staple that anyone could get , a plate of beans and a

good thick chocolate malt for cost price, our loss leader.
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We needed a name to go with "beans". I had picked up, as
a stevedore, the name Barney Google (because I wore glasses).
People called me Barney Google and "Barney" went with
beans s¢ ... I was back of the counter at night, I
vashed dishes; which was then called "pearldiving", in
the back of the restaurant until the wee swmall hours and
I yorked in the restaurant eveningé shoveling out beans
and everyone called me Barney during this period.

Then my cousin came out of the Navy and he was at
odds and ends. By that time my art school interests
were growing and being back of the restaurant counter
interfered with the time that I wanted for other things
so I sold out my interest in the thing wizich was not a
tremendous amount, but it enabled me to go on to art
school. However, I continued thinking up promotional
ideas for the Beanery. And Barmey's Beanery became an
overnight success. So much so that people were cued up
for two blocks to get in there for lunch.
Where was 1it?
It was right where Sproul Hall stands now, right in the
middle of that block. Alongside of it a little Hungarian
lady opened something she called "The Black Sheep". That

is where all the women went and all the men went to Barney's.
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Vessels: They would yoo-hoo at each other from Fritzie's balcony.
Women were not 2llowed in Barney's Beanery; they were not
forcibly ejected, but things were mode slightly unpleasant
for them. So only an occasional group crashed it.

Riess: Was this entirely student pooulation or did the faculty...

Wessels: Students nainly, although there were some younger fuculty.
The whole thing was a play on the rebellious instincts of
the students--what I thought was that the boys wanted
something rather tough. And although we ran the cleanest
kitchen in Berkecley we made a2 great display of being
dirty, and a great play of being indifferent to custumers
and so forth. We would sweep out the kitchen and all the
kitchen sweepings would be right at the front door. You
had to step over them when you came in. [Laughter]

Riess: How were you making money? You said it was at cost?

Wessels: No, no; that was a loss leader, but other things paid
reascnable profit. We always hired camnus figures,
athletes and so forth, to be our cashiers. 1t got to be
the approved hangout for a humber of years. It was so
popular that at one time in the seniors extravaganza
the chorus sang, "This is Barney's Beanery, look at all the _
scenery ," and so on. It was quite the thing for some years.
(The "scenery" was portraits--by me--of the 1923 Wonder
Team -on the walls)

I pulled out but by this time I had learned about
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Wessels: advertising art from the art school and I created the
"image" of Barney's Beanery and designed their wobbly
lettering and so on. I still ran their publicity
campaigns. Barney himself, my cousin, turned out to have
a kind of gift that way himself., He had a good sense of
humor and a way of turning words that was attractive. So
it became a great success until a dishonest cook got into
the kitchen and bankrupted poor Barney. I was out of it
by then. He had to leave Berkeley, so he went to Hollywood
and started over again with the same public image, the
same thing, and it became a hangout for young movie stars
and went on to its present status. I had nothing to do
with that, though. Now, we really don't have very much
communication any more, sad to say. But that was my
Barney's Beanery phase.

Then my art school business became more and more

important.
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IN SEARCH OF Ali EDUCATION: COLLEGE OF ARTS ALD CRAFTS

Frederick Meyer

Riess: How did you like art school? How did you react to it?
Wessels:? It seemed like I had come home for the first time in
my life. An old German directed the school to whom I
owe everything--Frederick Meyer. He was the president
and the founder of the school. It was a very poor school,
not endowed; it was a struggling enterprise at that time.
I worked for him in nis yard. He and his wife found out
that my resources were slender. He liked me and so they
put me to work as the janitor for awhile.

And in two years I wasateacher: I was in this
class working one day. The teacher was sick and was not
there. Meyer stormed in and was really angry because the
teacher was absent again. So he loocked around and said;
"Wessels, you take the class!™ I had had no preparation.
I stood up in the desk where I had previously been a
student. I thought, "Well, now what do I do? If I were
in their place, what would I need to know?" That has
been ny basic principle of teaching ever since.

I was working very hard and perh .ps was a little

)
t
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ahead of some of the other students in the course. By
dint of hard preparation I was able to make soue successful
impression on them even though I was not any further ahead
in the actual work than they were.

This leaves you still then without much real schooling

in art?

Yes; but I kept reading, and studying and pumping everyone
I could find. In that way I was able to stay zxhead of

the elementary classes that I taught. I was studying

in advanced classes at the time that I was teaching in
elementary classes.

What teachers do you remember?

Fred Meyer himself, who in ny c¢stimation was a wonderful
stubborn German with a wide knowledge and kind of a
William Morris philosovhy. He had a resoect for natericls
and for art in daily life thit has never left mes. 1
became an assistant to Perham Nahl wno at the same time
was one of the early instructors in the University of
California art department. In the evening clusses waich

I later taught in antique drawving from casts, one of my
students was Marzaret O'Hagan who later taught at Berkeley,
too. The other teacher who ﬁelped me the nost was a Frank
Brangwyn protege, Hardly anyone remembers Brangwyn now, but

ne painted the murals in the Veterans Auditorium in San
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Wessels: Francisco, which were previously in the Panuma Pacific

Exo)osition. I was used as a perennial assictant to all

" sorts of people who taught wurious phases of art at tue
California College of Arts and Crafts. They would
bring a verson in who had had nu teaching experience
but had somethiing to give and I would be assignec to
furnish the teaching. This occurred witn an expert
type desiyner, a fumous lettering man and industrial
designer, Joseph Sinel. (Incidentally, at one time 1
thought I would become 2 book designer, 2 type designer,
nd I studied with Frederick Goudy briefly one suimer
with that idea in mind. 1 o become very enamored with
the ubstract desisn of lettiering, but it was pretty

hard on the eyes znd I decided it was not for me.)

Mrs. Isabelle Percy West

My other encouragement came from Mrs. Isubelle Percy
West; who took me under ner ving. I don't know whut sae
saw but she seemed to think that there was soumething there
and she was particularly nice to me. S50 I used to spend
weekends over at her house in Sausalito which was at that
vime a kind of foregathering place for the avant garde
intellectuals, liberals, and so forth. I used to help

her serve drinks and generally made myself useful for the
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Wessels: privilege of st .ring 2t people like Charlie Chaplin,
Fremont Older, Carl Sandburg and who have you.

So her sort of taking me up and 1lifting me out of the
ordinary run of the students was another encouraguent.

Riess: She was one of the teachers?

Wessels: Yes, slie was a fine teacher, particularly in victure
structure «<nd the conposition of pictures. She was one
of the fersons who r:pped into my nead that life drawing
in the life class was not everytihing, tlhiut one should
draw the figure only in relation to other things, that
one had to compose pictures, that a .icture was a thing
in itself, it was not a thing that you copied from nature.
These ideas I got first from her.

Riess: Who was she?

Wessels: Well, her husband was George VWest and he wa: a liberal
writer who was one of the assoclate editors of the old

Call Builetin with Fremont Older and all that--early

San Francisco's so-called radicals but they were really
Fabian Socialists; I think, most of them. George later
became a contributing editor to the Nation magazine. He
was, in short; quite a person. We liked euch other.

Isabelle is the daughter of a prouminent architect.
Early she exhibited feminist tendencies, unusual indepandence
and all that. As a young girl she tr..vcled through

Burope alone and studied painting and print-muking and so



i
H

gl

My

Wnc .

LR el I

ne!

«Wtadiay oot

‘_lﬂ—' 4:’-. e & o

s_’.- Tl - C e ‘-‘. N 1

I

-
i

(f‘!l - ' -

- F .

-z.l".éu L TS 1.
| | 7 SRR T

. o velle gl -

| '0.?"9“.-;*.- o ’

| oAk K |
i_ﬁm%mﬁﬂf 3 PRETNTT e et !

'. Hopolnia bwr v - e W PR _l-.

b

PN pustEaTal K
e

- o LS v e mgow 8
ety o | B




Wessels:

61

on and came back just about the time that Frederick

Meyer was starting the little college of arts and

crafts (after the San Francisco fire klosed the Mark

Hookins Institute) above the pédlroomy on Center Street

in Berkeley and she joined nis staff there. I think she

was the second or third to join up. ©She was also a stu-

dent of the once famous English muralist Frank Brangwyn.
She was pretty much of a pioneer. When, for instanc

I asked Spencer Macky, who had been dean of the California

8chool of Fine Arts, "How about composition?" he said,

"Oh, it is just something you feel. You can't teach that."
Well, Isabelle did teach it. She was the first person

I ever knew who vut things in a logical way about putting

a nicture together. I still use ideas of picture structure

I got from her. In a certain way this was a fundamental

grammar of picture construction wnich with her was still

vague, but nevertheless, she was teaching this and assigning

problems~-"I want a couposition in a triangle and I want

that triangle to be the main feature of the picture, and

I want it to be a figure and ground situation with the

triangle as the figure, and I want the background to be

back of it". She showed us how these things occurred in

the works of the o0ld masters, Raphael's use of the sume

device and so forth, We would learn to draw, not just
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Wessels: figures, but figures within certain spaces doing certain
things in the movement and the structure of the picture.
This to me was invaluable.

Riess: That is interesting. And art criticism did not ook at
things in that way?

Wessels: No, not at that time. This was at a time when everybody
was enamored with impressionist atmospnere; there was not
much structure in the average oainting. It was just a
sort of a continuum, a "floating world" as somebody has
called it. But here siic was teaching structure, pictorial
structure. Then I found evidence of it in the work of the
classic ma.ters. Years later; when I went to Munich and
found Hans Hofmann teaching exactly the same thing
except much more vrofoundly worked out, I was ready for it.

Riess: Actually; I think looking a2t black and white reproductions
brings out certain things.

Wessels: Very often it does; veg; but the fundamental structure of
the picture is not necessarily in black and white. It is
in some artists. Michelangelo is probably seen as well
(if not better) in black and white as he is in color. His
color is not structural at all. On the other hand if you
take a black and white photo of Titian it goes mushy because
his structure is color. If you don't get the hues, you

don't get the structure. And so you have painters who are
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colorists, who construct through color on the one hand
and then you have people who are fundamentally graphic
artists. They may use some color incidentnlly but at
does not really work functionally, it plays a secondary
or tertiary role.

You can draw a line risht down through the whole his-
tory of painting; you could put Rembrandt on one side
with the colorists; I would put Matisse on the side of the
colorists, I would put Picasso on the side of the draftsmen.
It is not saying that one is much better thaan the other.
It is just that they use their media in different ways to
say what they have to say. Some had to depend more on
black and white and others depend less on it. Rouauld,
for instance, because of his perpetuation of the stained
glass style of painting based on his very early experience
as a stained glass designer, is distinctly dependent on
the black and white line for his structure. Other people
kind of hedge and parry both sides like, for instance, Dufy
where you have some line and then lots of color. Contrast
between hues thenmselves is the essence of painting as such,
as I see it. The artist who draws a line around everything
and then fills it in with color is not meeting the challenge

of painting at all. What he is doing is simply coloring a
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drawing.

All that did not come to me until later, but this
business of thinking of pictures as abstract problems
even though they may be representational victures c.me
to me first from Mrs. West. And she is now living
retired in Sausalito, over 80. She has excellent possession
of her wits although her health is a bit frail, and I
still visit her and think of her as being one of my
strongest early influences.

She commuted from Seusalito to Oazkland to te:ch?

Oh, the ferr Dboat was fun, now it is a chore to drive
across the bridge in traffic. In the o0ld days you got
on the ferry boat, sat down and fed the sea gulls and
nad a restful 15 minutes. You went down stairs maybe and
had a beer or a plate of corned beef hash or sometning.
You had to rest 15 minutes no matter what you were doing
and it was very good for everybody.

Was Sausalito a great kind of artistic place?

It always was kind of away from San Francisco, I don't
want to say Bohemian, they were not like we would think
of as Bohemians, they were liberals re.lly. Sausalito
was sort of a haven for peovle who wanted to live out on
the edge of the city in the woods where they were not

interfered with by conventional peopnle. I gon't think
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anything very scandalous went on, but they did have their
parties and so on. And as I wmentioned, quite early in my
art school days Isabelle took a shine to me and used to
invite me over the weekends where I would meet people like
Mike Shannon, Frederick O'Brien, Julian Hawthorne, oh
various journalists, and Charlie Chaplin was there one time,
people like that who knew George West and came and stayed
over the weekend. Very often they had parties and very
often I helped get the drinks and pass the sandwiches.

It was fun for a kid who knew absolutely nothing of
the outside world and was zbsolutely a "green pea", to find
himself in this company. I could not believe it; I would
pinch myself every so often.

What do you think that they found in you?

I don't know. Excenting that Isabelle quite early thought
of me as a person who belongs and that was all there was
to it. She seemed to think that I had a head on me and
vas going to amount to something and she was going to

help it out. I guess that is the best I know. We are
still very fast friends and she insists that this is why
we became friends--because I was so much more intelligent

than most of the students she came against. [Laughter]
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Xavier Martinez

The other person that I owed & great deal to and who
still has my deepest affection was a Mexican named Xavier
Martinez.w Martinez had come from Paris and could talk
intimately about such people as Whistler and Steinlin and
Carriere and so on. As a teacher, Marty was a student of
Gerome and he believed in the strict life class training.
The reason for it, he believed, was that the artist must
begin all things with observation., Regardless of what
he does, Bohemian he may be, and drunk he may be when he
paints, but he must have accurate observation. He must
train his eye and his hand so that he can set down the
exact model as he sees it and he must be able to do this
with a minimum of means., In other words the accent on
line was all important for Marty, a minimum of romantic
shading and a maximum of classic line was Marty's doctrine.
He himself drew beautifully. It was rather simple but
rigid doctrine which did train you in observation and in
proportioning the thing. You were asked to always draw
the figure exactly in the same way., That is to say, the
head had to touch the top of the paper and the feet had to

“An interview by the Regional Oral History Office
with Elsie Whittaker Martinez is in progress.
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touch the bottom and woe betide you if it overlapped or
underlapped even so much. You had to make the whole

figure come out right in that space; you had to learn to
fill space accurately. ifow this may seem rigid but it

was a valuable discinline. It trained one to appreciate

the exoct linits of the field on which you were working

and was the basis for any decent, rhythmic composition in
which you later were engaged. As a basic training I thought
it was invalusble and I got that from Marty.

He murried, I think it was the daughter of Herman
Whittaker, who was also one of the Jack London group of
authors, »ainters, writers, und whiit have you. My recollec-
tions are those of a very young, awe-struck student wno wus
invited up to the Martinez home in Piedwont on Sunday
afternoons wnen various people of tuis group would visit
Marty and drink prohibition red wine from a bottle which
stood behind the stove to kee» it warm enough to s@iit their
taste. [Laughter] The people who showed up were Jimmy

Hopper, an 2uthor, who had stories in The Saturday Evening

Post and other places. And George Sterling, a good poet.
Oh doubtless other people could fill you in on that crowd
better than I could; I only saw them us visiting celebrities

at Marty's house.
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When famous artists from other ports of the country would
arrive, would they come to somebody like Martinez?

Once in a while; yes. For instance, Arthur B. Davies visited
there.

Marty was a member of the San Francisco Bohemian
Club which started out as an artist orgunization and
slowly becnme a businessman's club because the artists,
being broke, let the businessmen in to finance them.

And the businessmen took over and now the artists are
distinctly decorative, serve mostly a decorative purpose
around there! They invite in only the ones they want to.
The Boheniun Grove, as you know, Dbecume a national gathering
place for cclebrities of many sorts.

I think part of Marty's appeal to them was thet he
was a somewhat unusuwl-looking person in attire. He was
an.Indian, he claimed, a Mayan Indian, born in Guadalajara
in Mexico. He always wore his hair cropped in the fueblo
Indian style, a short bob sort of, and he wore a lcather
band with silver studs in it around his head. He was the
first man that I ever saw wear Indian jewelry. He usually
wore very baggy corduroy clothes. He was the first man;
as I say, that I ever saw that affected the Indian style
of dress around here. And in those days he looked somewhat

unique, to say the least. But. ihis wife on the other hand,
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Wessels: was very vale, golden blonde. There is a portruit of

Riess:

Wessels:

her out at the Oaklend Museum .ainted by Marty, very
beautifully wund sympatheticuelly. Murty himseif in
training was really of the Parisian stage of Wulstler's
school. He knew Whistler in Paris «nd had studied along
with the men of that veriod. 4%e was an acguaintance of
Carriere's and the later Romantics, he came cut of the later
Rom:ntic Scnool in Paris.

The Romuntic Schiool is the school w.ich broke away
from Freneh acodemic classicism and in sone cases went
to the extreones of znarchy and rebellion against accepted
norns. In its sanest aspects it was o healthy thing in
that it freed the artist from academic cliches, and in its
looser aspects it wes morul decuy.
Who exem lifies the "looser" aspects?
Well, it was pgenerally thought that an,thing that could
be done to excite the iuijinztion was legitimate, Uowadays
people are teking LSD for the same purvoses; then they
took other forms of dope and a ;00d deal of alcohol was
considered rnecessary by many Romuntics. Bccentricity was
cultivated though, rather tnun restrained,by the better
Romantics. Whereas witi tiie Classicists, of course,
eccentricity was vice.

So, Marty was definitely a “omantic, but sort of naturally
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Wessels: and honestly one. I must say that he was tne most important

early influence that I had, in that he kept my mind open
to all sorts of things in painting w:ich were nysterious
and not eractly exvlainable but nevertheless fascinating.
He first introduced me %0 the works of Picasso who was
then comvaratively unknown. And he was certainly not
even heard of around here at tnat time.

Marty's own latest work was, I would say, that of a
good Impressionist vainter, and in his earlier work he
was a somber Romantiec of the kind of thing,,,well, Whaistler's
Mother was a very well known painting done in that manner.

WVhistler's Battersea Bridse ﬁhall ve swy)is a sort of

presupnosition of Impressionisn? Marty's work was in there.

Riess: He did go to Impressionism rather than to something like
Picasso?

Wesselst Yes, he didn't g0 thnt far because Impressionism comes
before Picasso. But later on in his drawings he began to
draw with a peculiar clarity and Wehemence which partook
partly out of primitive Mexican expression and partly out
of Picusso's primitive stage. He was a very stimulating
person in that he opened up these avenues of inquiry. He
didn't explain things; ne simply said they were 4ood, thut

was 21ll. Then you looked at themn.
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This friendship had a decided influence on my thinking
and I began to read avidly before anyone else I knew did
all the avant-garde stuff of th=t day. Clive Bell, the
English critic,and Roger Fry, the English critic; Willard

Huntington Wrisht's Modern Painting and things about Africa.

I can remember a novel called Batuala which was a transla-
tion from Rene Meran,I think, who won the Goncourt Prize
in Paris. It was a sensation. Our cdirection at that time
was definitely towards a primitive violence of expression
and so forth. We began to value African art «nd the art
of children for the first tine.

Were there any courses in that kind of thing that were
taught at Arts and Crafts?

No.And Marty was not able to explain the theory, but he had
a great respect for these things. No one in the school
could explain modern art to me wnhich explains the reason
why later I came back to the University.

The questions raised in conversation with the teachers
at Arts and Crafts were things that they could not answer
for themselves. I got to looking at Matisse and wondering
why things were as they were in his paintings.

Where were these contacts with Matisse? Reproductions?
Books, reproductions; and things like that. And I fell

in with a groun of people who haunted book storcs and looked
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at reproductions.
How about galleries?

There were not very many in San Francisco then, and the
dominent art in Szan Froncisco then was Impressionism, until
the Mexican Revolution. Spencer Macky and Yee Randolph
were practicnlly the "Establishuent" in those days. They
were both Impressionists--one a portrait painter, a la
Monet, and the other one a pointillist color man, a la
Monet. So that was the wvant-garde art at the time in

San Francisco.
Was Clive Bell kind of a revelution?

Not so much a revelation as a reaffirmation of what I wus
beginning to suspect. Of course, I wa. not satisfied

with "8ignificant forus". What was significant form? And
how did one 70 about creating a significant form? This

is what worried me. [ Laughter] 3But t.is led me to other
things, amongst others a book by a somewhat obscure Harvard
philosopher known as Denman Ross. He wrote a couple of

books among vhich was The Theory of Pure Design. The Theory

of Pure Design gnve me the first orderly idea of what this

might all be about. Again I wanted more but I did not get
it until I got to Munich and Hofmann. :ut this was all a

burning curiosity on my nart. I could not let it alone.

I kept conming back to it whenever I had time from all the

other enterprises. I had to earn my living all the time,

1

»
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Wessels: and I was working first with the theater and then as a
nizht club decorator and doing all sorts of things. But
I kept coming back to these gqueries about what on earth

~“<

nodern painting was all about.
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FOSTER AND KLEISER AND OTHER JOBS

Were the students at Arts and Crafts mostly aiming at jobs
in advertising art?

It was then a vocational school, primarily. It at one time
had tausht more thon one half of all the high .school aft
teachers in California.

It became inevitable that the only carcer open to me
there was as a teacher. I was forced more or less into a
teacher training program because there did not seem to be
anything clse, although I did not want to become a high
school art teachere I was more interested in the fine arts,
but it all sounded terribly impractical so I compromised
by trying to make very good commercial illustrations.

That is how I got into that line of work.

Well, by this time I had gone through four years of
art school. And by the way; I heartily agree with what 1
read in the paper this morning that very often the drop-out
student is more intelligent than not beccuse this is the
way it was with me. By leaving school and going to work
and then going back to school again, I found my way a
whole lot sooner than if I had stayed in school. I was in

and out of several institutions several times and every
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time I came brck, ny purnose had become clearer and my
determination stronger. I had found out something by
goinge to work thtt implencnted and mcotivated me and when
I came back to school, I did better and better. And this
is the way it wes with art school,too. I think thut very
often when we are thrust from the home into the school,
we are therce because our parents say that it is the thing
to do and we haven't any real motivation. I{ is not until
ve get out &nd brush up ageinst life as 1t is that we find
what we can do best and what we should 20 back to school
for.

As a counselor here, znd I did most of the devertment
counseling for years, until retircment, I tell a student
who shows a disinclination for the work at college, "Well,
you really don't see the sense in all this unless you go
out ard do vhat you want to do and maybe find out that you
would learn how to do it better by zoing back to school."
Very often they've been r~rateful for this advice. I firmly
believe that t is four year tning thi.t we are supposed to
adhere to is absolutely silly, educ::tionally specking., 1
think that the youngster should be cncruraged to zo out and
fall on is f ce a few times, then coue back to school, and
then go out zand try it agnin. Maybe he should svread those
four years over seven or so. I believe a 700¢ time to

break off from school would be at the end of the sophomore
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Wessels: year and vork o year somenplace.

I am very much against the idea of hurrying the student
through four quarters in one year, fur instance. This
quarter system is a dangerous speed-up and the values of
slow assimilation and of work and study are lost. I
personally feel thot they .re very import.nt. I think that
the student snould prob:bly co four years in five. That
is about the »nronortion it should be.

Riess: It seems that to administer a work-study progrum would be
easy enough.

Wessels: Well, I had my own work-study orogram. In my later years
at Arts and Crafts I worked first with a commercial artist
whose nsme was George Kegs. The way I got the job, I simply
decided that I had to know more and more about this thing
cnlled the commercial world of art and so I went to him.
I did not propose to let myself out as an artist, but ?
said that if he would pzy my carfare, I woulcd clean his
studio out znd wash his brusnes for him. His brushes obviously
needed washing at the time. That is fhe first thing I saw
when I went into the studio, that his brushes were all
gooed up and that his easel was smeared with paint and
that there was dust all over everything in the studio. 1
said, "You know, you could use a janitor around here."

He said, "That I could."

B said; "Well, how would you like one? 1I'll do it

for my carfare, if you will just let me w.tch what goes on
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around here." This was my first art job really. And
before I left there, things that he did not want to do,

he let me do. So. I began doins chewing gum labels and
various little comuercial jobs of this sort. They were
unimportant things but things mevertheless which taught

me a lot. I went back to school with much more intelligence
after that.

Anyway; ofter graduating from Arts and Crafts, with
the usual portfolio of my sketches, illustrations, strips
of lettering, an. so forth, I tramped the streets of
San Francisco looking for a job but no one seemed to
want me or my talents and I tramped for three months. 1In
the meantime I had made some friends in Foster and Kleiser,
the agency which in that time was most attractive to the
comnmercial artist because one could use color there. In
those dsys color reproduction was not as common as it is
now; most advertisement was black and white. ?ut in Foster
and Kleiser where they painted billboards you could paint
in color and this was considered to be a wonderfullplace to
work where you could actually design in color. I had made

friends with some of the people who were in this agency =
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I had free run of the place although I had no job there,
I had never in the world dreamed that I would be good
enough to get a job there, There were 24 of them then in
their stable of designers, Maynard Dixon was one of them,
and I got a speaking acquaintance with all these people:
Joseph Sinel, Otis Shepard.

One day I came in and all these men were gathered
around a table arguing and I came up and stuck my.nose in
it and said, "What is going on?"

Ray Bethers, a friend of mine, turned and said, "Do
you know how a parrot's foot goes?"

I said, "Sure!"

He said, "How does it go?"

I said, "Well, let me draw it.," ©So I sat down and
drew the parrot's foot. Otis Shephard said, "That looks
convincing. Can you draw the rest of the parrot?"

I said, "What kind of a parrot do you want? There
are lots of kinds," |

"We had the idea of one of these big ilexican jobs,"

I said, "Oh you mecan a macaw.," I said, "Which color
scheme do you want? Do you want the red with the blue

and"...and so forth.
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Wessels: So they all looked at one another and said, "He knows
all about these varrots."

And the uvshot wa: that I drew and sketched the
e E ot T R Ao them; and they said, "Looks like you've got
a job."

I said; "What is the job for?"

They said, "Well, there is a chocol:..te company down
here and ther want us to nut out & billboard and have a
parrot saying, 'Say, Gear-ar-delli',"

“But"I said, "They don't talk."

They said; "Don't tell them that{" [Lauchter]

So anywzy I did nothing but parrots for quite a long
tigie for Foster and Kleiser. The people at Foster and
Kleiser; of course; were enough to stimulate the imagination
of the neophyte. Besides the famous western illustrator,
Maynard Dixon; there was another very good painter, 'a
landscape painter, Maurice del Mue. He add I became very
good friends. And Otis Shephard who later became famous
as the man who made Wrigley's Gum famous through a kind of
plagarized Cubism in style, was the art director. Ray
Bethers,vho is now in England writing books,had a dekk next
to mine and we became very good friends. And soue of the
well known names around advertising art in San Francisco

right now, Lonnie Bee and a lot of the current crop of
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leading advertising illustrators and commercial illustrators
and so forth were there.
Harold von Schmidt who for years was art editor

of Cosmopolitan magazine had just left there and I knew

him quite well. Joseph Sinel, who later became famous as

an industrial designer (he did those scules that you've
undoubtedly stepped on yourself, the first ‘skyscrape®’'scaes
that said "Step on me" on the step). Joe came from
Australia, a craftsman and a skilled lettering man, and I
became his assistant in Arts and Crafts in éﬁé first classes
in type design and lettering design.

In thosec days billboards werc a lot closer to mural
painting than to sisns. Foster and Kleiser found it
expedient to hire the best tilent. They were engaged in
a hassle with the legislature asbout billboards. They had
to say that they were decorating the highways with the
finest art.

There was even a hassle about it back then?

Oh, yes. Anc they won their case, you see, because they
hired the best artists they could find anywhere. These
billboards were really pretty good to look at and if they
put them up in front of a mountain or some scenery, why
they were not as objectionable as a nmere sign. Then, after
they ot the laws they wanted passed, they simply fired all

their expensive artists. [ Laushter]
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Riess: Why did it dissolve?

Wessels: Well; the great days for Foster and Kleiser were when
the billboard advertising was the most influential
zeneral adverticing. What rezlly bowled it over was the
coming of radio and tv. Then tiis became the most
effective poonular advertising =and billboards went down-
hill iumediately and become mere sizgnse.

Riess: Ifow tell me aoout the physical set up. VWere you all in
one big room?

Wessels: Foster and Kleiser had moved about the time that I came
there to a new building, I think at Pierce and Steiner.
We rode out on the Geary car and walked over, I reuember.
The studio wes all along the second story of the front of
the building. There were 24 desks which were divided int
two halw®s, the 1local area in wi.icii I worked =nd the
national area. The local areca was presided over by Emil
Brebbs and the national area presided over by Otis Shephard
as directors. And salesmen would come up from downstairs
and tell us what their client's ideas were and so forth.
Then we would make sketches and they would try them out
on their clients and then we would nake cnanges and so
forth urtil there was a meeting of minds on theu.

Riess: So you did not deal directly with the clients yourself.

Did the art directors?
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Wessels: Sometimes. Art directors generally are idea men and

layout men. They will often dash out am arrangement,
a sketch; you see. Quite often this sketch will be filled
in by several different peovnle who are svecialists in dif-
ferent things. . For instance, myself on parrots and appetite
appeal.

Applesauce... I painted the first chopped pineapple
that was ever run in an ad. I had found out all sortis
of tricks about makinzg inedible things look edible. For
instance, a dish of stewed prunes is one of the most
ghastly things you could look a2t when you really look at
it realisticz2lly. So I learned to glamorize stewed
vrunes and chopped pineapple and so forth. The way to
glamorize anything that is sweet is to make it look
sticky by n»nouring oil over it which looks like thick
sugar syrup, and then you look zt it through thin amber
cellophane and it looks nice and golden and that is how
you paint it to give it appetite appeal. [Laughter]
Most of the good foods that you see on IV are made of
plaster of paris.

I thinc one of the most puzzling things that happened
to me--ancd this is significant, although it may not sound
like it--I was later working for another agency; not Foster

and Kleiser, and this man sold a lot of Schillings products.
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He said ,"Here is some goo from Dole Pineapple Company that
they are ovutting on the market, choppred vineapvle, and we
ave to make it look good to eat. Now you take it home,
put it in a rood-looking bowl and paint it. See what you

get out of 1E."

I had been doing some applesauce very successfully,
so now here was chopned pineapple. I took it home and
painted it and brought it b.ck. And the art director
said, "Applesauce?"

1 s2id, "No, chopped pineapnle."

He s=id, "It reads applesauce."

So I took this pineapple stuff home again and I looked
at it and it looked just like applesauce exceoting it
didn't. I wasn't too sure. I begun to look closer and
closer and I saw that in each litile piece, there were
little white fibers and that the edge was serrated in a
certain way. I looked at a piece of apples:uce and it did
not have the same texture or consistency. But you could
not see this without holdings it way up here close to your
eves. So I thought, this is funny, if I put those threads
in it won't be realistic because you cun't see them from
a distince, but maybe that is what it needs. So I painted
the little threads in the little pieces and took it buck.
The art director said, "Chopped pineapple."

But I said, "You can't see those threads.!™
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He said, "That is all right, that reads."

And it dawned on me that sometimes you have to
emphasize things that you know at the expense of what
you see in order to tell what you want to say. This
became a keystone idea with me, that painting that was
realistic in its effect very often had to be non-real
in actuality, that you had to paint what you knew and
waht you felt as well as what you saw in order to put
the idea over, even with pineapples and applesauce, You
can not simply go by the appearances of things; reality
is something more and the information that you must put
into a work of art has to come also from your sense of
touch and from your feelings about things, from your
memories about things, all sorts of sources besides the
immediate vision in your eye. The reality is a much
broader, deeper thing than your immediate visual experience,
Why on something like chopped pineapple wasn't a photograph
the best thing?
In those days they did not have color film, Mark Twain's
son-in-law and another man invented Kodachrome some years

after that., But even now they have to retouch appetite
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Wessels: appeal photos to get a convincing effect. The artist has
to get the feeling into it. Visual realism isn't enough
alone.

There are so many things nowadays in the way of color
reproduction that ..ave changed the whole business of
visual arts. Although & color slide is by no means
accurate and a z00d many color reproductions are way off,
nevertheless, the chance is that the artist or art student
con see works of art reproduced wit: at least reasonable
accuracy...l can remember trying to study modern art out
of books: the revnroductions were all black and white with
one or two very amazingl - bad color reproductions.

I remember I was particularly talken with the works of
Andre Derzin when I was beginning to worry about modern art;
and I had a book wilh one little colored reproduction
in it that I treasured. It was the only one that I could
find, 2 little landscape maybe three inches by five inches
and this was great. I modeled my work after this, I
studied this thing, looked at it through a masnifying
glass, and everything else. Finally when I got to Paris
and was able to look at the original painting, I was
terribly dashed because the print I had been lavishing all
this care on was way of ; it was much too pirnk!

Color reproduction was inaccurate, was vague what there

- - .
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was of it, and it was very expensive. Nowadays, color
slides are much better but still not perfect, and color
reproductions are closer now, but still not very good.
The art student who depends on color reproduction to
furnish what he does not have from experience with the
painting itself, is simply fooling himself even now,
People like Maynard Dixon who were at Foster and Kleiser,
were they working there full time?

Yeah, these people were earning enormous salaries for
those days--something like $25 a day or something like
that.

And then would somebody like Dixon go home and do his
own work?

Oh, sometimes, But we were supposed to--we came to the
studio and did our work there. We were there because
salesmen had to be able to come in and consult us and ask
for sketches.,

I thought of someone like Maynard Dixon as somebody who
was doing free-lance art.

Well, he may have arranged with his art directors to

be there only four days a week or something like that,
But the art director could demand his presence.

Was there any feeling that this was just a pot-boiling
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Riess: kind of thing to do?

Wessels: Oh, yes, sure. It was just a pot-boiling kind of thing,.
There -was a certain amount of pleasure in a certain job
if you had a chance to cut loose and do something pretty
good. Other times, for instance when you had a client
like old Bernstein who did not understand anything but
oysters, if you gave him anything but realistic oysters,
why, he would not take it. But some people let you let
your imegination go a bit.

Maurice Logan brought in the style of Impressionism.
He was working at another firm, He was a pretty good Im-
pressionist painter and still is a very good water color-
ist in his manner. He brought in a kind of breath of
fresh air into commercial illustration, a good many of
the visual appearances of Impressionist painting, the
freer style of painting, and so on., This became accept=-
able, particularly in real estate advertising; you could
glamorize a headland with a2 lot of red tile houses on it,
make it look like a Monet or a Pissarro., All of us were
looking for fine artists to copy. A good many of the
values of commercial art are frankly plaglarized. The suc-
cessful commercial illustrator is one who can adapt him-
self rather aquickly to any style. He can skim the cream
off of some work of art that has visual appeal and then
use this style to glamorize something as awful as chewing

gum, for instance.
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It is interesting to think how that perpetuates cer-
tain kinds of things.
Yes, you will find that the commercial art today is
usually the style of fine art of twenty years ago.
There is that much cultural lag.
Was there much mediating between the artists or did
everyoody get along?
Oh, this business of artists fighting, I don't think
they fight more than anybody else ! Usually they are
pretty genial fellows., They will fight with sgmebody
outside the art world, but not with each other.,
So it was kind of a fun place to work?
It was a2 nice easy-going atmosphere with everybody sort
of helping everybody else out, Very often two or three
of us would have to work on one thing. For instance, we
would have one man who was an expert at painting tin can
tops and another man might be good at something else; we
would often combine our talents. A lettering man might
put the letters in and somebody else might do the animals
and somebody else might do the girls' faces.

We had one boy named David Rivera who could do a very
chic fashion figure type. And when we had pretty girls in
bathing suits, he would always do those., We were special-

ists. I was an appetite appeal person and parrot special-
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ists, But as Foster and Kleiser became more sign paint-
ing and less design, I left,

Then I received an offer from Irving Pichel, who
was the first community playhouse man in Berkeley, to
be his scenic designer and factotum, man of all work,
I became the stage manager of sorts in the theater, work-
ing with lighting, set building, and so on, This was an
avant garde experimental thing and I had very close con-
tact with it, though I never was an actor and never wanted
to be. But I had lots to do with staging some of the
early Berkeley little theater things. I was still teach-
in art school, part of the time, part of the time being
a commercial artist, and then part of the time being a
scenic designer and so forth and so on,
And still learning on your own?
Yes, I kept wondering about painting as a thing in it-
self, It seemed like I was going around the outside
edges of it and there must be something in the middle, I
could not quite accept the idea that painting is only an
applied art. The only thing that I could conceive of in
those days was perhaps mural painting., I thought that
might be an important thing and I should strive in thet
direction, Scene painting seemed to be somewhat on the

way to it so I could work in that area,
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essels: I was curious and eager to solve all these prob-
lems., VWhen anybody would show up with some information,
I would be there asking questions. While I was working
with Irving Pichel in the community playhouse, which was
in a little church, now defunct, down here on Center
Street (I believe the U. C. Press is there now), a lady
showed up with some weird stuff that really put me on
edge., That place was used for occasional cultural events
such as lectures. And one time --I was the man of all
work around the vlace at that time --I was asked to show
slides for a certain Galka Scheyer., And the slides she
showed were works of the Bauhaus in Germany and the work
of a grouv called "the blue four" and these were Klee,
Kandinsky, Jawlensky, and Feininger, and I had never
heard of them before. As these slides were thrown on
the screen, I was completely bowled over,

Riess: These were in color?

Vessels: Yes, color slides, I think they were perhans the first g§nd
color slides I ever saw, I was completely bowled over
by these strange things. It aroused the greatest curi-
osity. I didn't know about Galka Scheyer except that she
was a sort of a fanatic zabout this stuff, She was deter-
mined that people should see it and value it. Later she

went to Pasadena to live, and later gave this collection
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that she brought from Europe to the Pasadena Museum,

and they now have it, and it still is a very good col-
lection.

Who was she?

I don't really know, I don't know much about her ex-
cept that she was from Germany, the name would indicate
Polish German, and that she had some connection or other
with the Bauhaus school in Weimar at that time and had
brought this work to America when she came and that is
all I know. You can find out more about Galka Scheyer
from the Pasadena Museum, I am sure, because they have
that collection, Peter Selz, who is here now, was tne
director of that museum--I think at the time when it ac-
guired that collection.

You say that she really put you on edge. Are you think-
ing of her or of tiie paintings themselves?

Well; "on edge," I mean this in a good way. It ovened
up a world which was completely mysterious and exciting
to me, I saw some curious connection that I could not
quite tréce between what I heard from peonle like Isa-
belle about picture structure and what was going on here,
but this was so much further out. I could not qqite make
a clear connection,

What was the nature of her lectures? Was she a good
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Riess: interpreter?

Wessels: You know, I can't remember the things that she said,
I imagine it was mainly the enthusiasm, ©She imparted
a kind of feeling of fanatic enthusiasm for what she
had. I suppose that is what you have to have for it,
I don't think it explained very much to me,

Riess: And did you talk to ner afterwards?

Wessels: No, not very much., I did a 1little bit. She thanked
me for putting the slides on, and I said, "VWhere can
one find out more about this?" and she told me and so
on.

Riess: Wnere could one find out more?

4‘” gﬂljll Sh

‘Jessels: Vell, there was one book, only one boogr Cubists And

Post-impressionism, by A. J. Eddy. And I found this

one book and it was full of much of the same sort of
rather vague rhapsodic writing. I was a person who
had had enough scientific training as & pre-med stud-
ent so that I wanted some facts, So, although I could
see that people were very enthusiastic, I wanted to
know what they were enthusiastic about,

After the Berkeley theater folded, I went through
a rather painful time trying to put my scenic knowledge

to work as a cafe decorator. In those days we had pro-
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nivition, and illicit cafes were s»ringing up and
veing clos=d by the police everywhere. They con-
stanfly needed new decor, not too permanent. VWhat
they wanted wns soreone to do it in stage terms., I
designed a series of vplaces, one called Thne Sheiii's
Tent, anotier one called iiades, and another one called
Insane Inn, and so on. [Laughter] All these were boot-
legger's outlets, All of them were closed u»n after a
month or two. I got said off pretty well by the boot-
leggers vecause I nhed crazy ideas which suited them,
But finally one of them got jugged and did not pay his
bills, and I was left holding the bag on the material
expenses.

I had in the meantime a2lso been emnloyed dv Dr.
Popver, who was running the Greek Theater in these days,
after the demise of Sam Hume's enternrise. Through him
I came in contact with Hargaret Anglin who was doing a
series of Greek plays. She emnloyed me to do a set that
could be used in the Greek Theater and then be trans-
planted to Hollywood to tne Hollywood Bowl, and then
transplanted to Soldier's Field in Seattle, and then to

some place or other in Hawaii, Now I thought I was in,
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I thought now I'm set, this is the career, this is it.
I'm going to be a stage designer. But poor Margaret
Anglin drank too much gin and went to the hospital, and
they had to abrogate all her contracts and so I was left
with quite an amount of money in my hands at the time of
the year when it was impossible to get any other scenic
jobs. So I said, "By golly, why don't I find out about

this painting thing that has been bugging me."
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IN SEARCH OF AN EDUCATION: UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA AND PARIS

Wessels:

So I had the money in hand, not too much, and a
great burning curiosity and nothing to do. Iy parents
by this time had kind of given me up and were willing
to give me 830 a month just to keep me eating, but they
felt that I was pretiy lost as far as they were concerned.
They by this time had built the apartment down here which
has been torn down and dormitories put up over on Durant.

t was called the Beverly Apartments. They were doing
rather well with that and so they were willing to say,
"Well, until you find something, we will help you out
to this extent." They were pretty generous, considering
their religious attitudes.,

So I went to the University and looked over the old
units of credit that were still lying around, the pre-
med units, and the only thing that I could turn them into
that was anywhere near where I wanted to go was psychology.
I had now had five years of art school and a lot of prac-
tical experience and I wanted to find out about form and
color, I talked to UC counselling people, and they
looked at me in amazement that I thought there might be

such a thing as a kind of visual music and that 1 wanted
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to find out what the scales, keys, and the chords and
so forth in visual music were, They did not have any-
thing like that, I said; "Who should I talk to?"

“Well, a2 philosopher named Stephen Pepper knows
about these weird ideas, ﬂﬂbu can probably go to see
him,"

This was my first contact with Stephen, and it "
developed into a fast friendship, which still continues,

I can remember going into his office and talking
to him for the first time and saying, "I want to find
out the principles of picture structure, and what effect
form has on color and vice versa, I want to know what
the relationship between music and visual form is., I
want to know, for instance, the validity of such things
as this color organ that had just been invented., It
seems to me that there must be something in visual art
that had some analogy to music and I would like to find
it out."

He said, "You know, the questions you are asking are
very difficult and important questions, but no one seems
to be able to answer them, The only way I can think of

is for you to go and take a course in experi-

WS. Ce Pepper, Art and Philosophy at the University of
California, 1919-1962 (Regional Cultural History Project,
Berkeley, 1963). '
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mental psychology'and try to find these things out for
yourself,"

So I enrolled as an experimental psychologist under
Edward Chase Tolman and we became fast friends also. He
was very sympathetic, Qut he said, "For goodness sake,
this all sounds so terribly interesting, but I don't dare
leave the rats. Don't ask me these questions because it
will get me all excited and off my subject." [TLaughter]

But at least I realized that these questions were
valid and there was something that could be done. I
soon found out that the behavioristic psychological
method of gaining truth was a very long, slow, and ex-
pensive one., I found out certain things and originated
certain experiments which were useful and which later
were used by the psychologists.

What kinds of things?

I'1]l describe one. It became evident to me that space
in a picture was due to certein things and at that time
I thought that perhaps one of the things was that con-
trast was intrinsically an advancing factor and that
lack of contrast was a recessive factor and that you
could bring things forward or sink them back in the way
that Carriere and Whistler did, by making them dimmer in

the distance, you see. So I set uv a machine to prove
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this., The machine consisted of a board with a line on
it, Black was opposed to white on one end of the board
and this slowly went through a gradation until two things
were back to the same at the other end of the board. So
you had grey at one end of the board and you had a strong
black and white contrast at the other. Then the trouble
became that people could tell what position the board

was in by looking at it, So I set it behind a screen so
they saw it only through a slit and on the exact level of
their eyes.

Then they were given an endless cord and they could
sit there and look at this and they could rotate the board.
For instance, I would say, "This is the behavioristic
experiment--please set the board parallel with your face,"”
They were shown the whole thing first and they knew what
it was and they were told. But they had no visual clues
whatsoever except this line, and that it was black against
white over there and grey over here. The experiment
killed itself off when I found out that 50 out of 50 pulled
the contrast side away from them in their effort to set
the board parallel. In other words, there was no use to
chase it any further, it was a fact.

This apparatus was accepted and later used by
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anotner friend I made in connection with vsychology,

a Viennese vnsychologist who died, named Lgon Brunswick,
iie was very sympathetic to all this and used some of
the apparatus that I originated to learn about imnlied
space, He came to some conclusions himself about it.
Until he became ill, we were close friends, and he en-
couraged my experiments. Another one was the man who
later became the director of the experimental lab in
Princeton, Dr, Weaver, Weaver took these things ser-
iously, and we began working with such problems as

when you look at a form, at a rectangle bounded by four
lines, where is the eye most apt to fall? 1Is there any
sequence in eye movement following from one vnoint to
another in such an area? And how can this sequence be
influenced if there is one, and so on? I am only sume
ming up here a great deal of speculation and work, Prof.
Edward Barnhart carried that on further,

Weaver and I built a fog chamber together in which
we would set up a visual pattern at a certain distance
from the eye. It could be viewed with two eyes and then
if we put fog in one and diminished the contrast, did
it apparently recede in space? These were things
we tried out behavioristically to sce whether or not

peonle would make judgements such as that this thing
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was further away than that just because it was dim-
mer, It is not profitable here to go into all these
various experiments, but all this demanded physical
equipment and expensive electrical equipment, and I
was somewhat skilled in these matters because I had
been a stage electrician and I could build apparatuses
of this sort, but I had no resources, no grant. Stephen
tried to get me some funds, but it did not seem imvor-
tant enough to the people of that time.
It sounds like you were beginning & new field, the
psychology of percention,

v a

I later read of this, book by Rudolph Arnheim, Art and

Perception, and I realized that I was fumbling toward

writing such a book but that I was 20 or 25 years be-
fore the data was there to write it from,

In the process of all this and with the feeling of
increasing frustration and the feeling that somehow or
anotner this was going much too slow, I had as a kind of
release from the psychological work, allowed myself a
bit of cake, I joined a class in play production under
the late Sarah Huntsman Sturges, who was the only one
who taught éﬁﬁgzﬁzé art on campus outside of Von Nue-

meyer at that time. I did not want to become an actor.

I thought there would be someplace for me to play around
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with scenery in connection with the work. But in
those days you could not get out of a class once
you were in it,

This woman was a terror, she was really a
terror, and I love her; I think she did more for me
than any other individual that I ever met! Because
sne taugnt me to talk. She insisted on doing it. Her
method was terrific. I was a timid, stammering per-
son, very afraid to appear in public, still conscious
of my bad eye, afraid to look anyone straight in the
face, And she made me stand up on a platform and talk,
and heckled me until I got over being afraid. I have
always been very grateful to her.
It's very hard to believe that you were in any way a
timid, self-conscious person.
Personally I was, I could stand up in front of a class
when I had something to say, but I felt that I was un-
important and it was what I had to say that was impor-
tant. This is what carried me through with her. She
kept saying, "You have something to éay. I am going
to make it so that you can say it." She would sit there
and I would speak and I would lisp perhaps. She would
say, "Learn to say 'The thistle sifter successfully

shifting three thousand thistles', and so forth, and
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learn to say it until you can make it without a
mistake." So I went through this painful exercise
in public speaking which has stood me in very good
stead since. I now am able to say it even with
dentures, [Laughter] At any rate, this apparently
was an essential preparation for what I was to do
later.
But the really important thing that came out
of this was that she was a cousin (or something) of
Worth Ryder's wife. While she was beating me over
the head, she was at the same time apparently very
approving and determined to help me. She realized
that I was struggling down the long psychological
road toward a knowledge of painting. She asked Worth
Ryder whether he would talk to me. He had just come
from Eurove. Illayve something could be done about this.
In short, Worth came down to the little red barn
wnich I had as a workshop studio down here on Dana
Street. I remember he showed up one day and came in
and looked at things and talked. I was at that time
painting a series of geometric forms which were whirl-
ing in space, I was trying to find out about formal re-
lationships., He realized what I was trying to do al-

though he also realized that I had very little basic
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information on this. He began talking about these
things, and said, "You know, you ought to go to
Munich., There is a man there named Hans Hofmann who
knows just the things that you want to know., You
don't have to go through all this agony and experi-
menting in psychology, there is a shorter road." He
convinced me that this is what I should do. WVell, I
took my remaining money and sold everything I had and
borrowed all I could and I 1it out for Eurove.
Wno was Worth Ryder?
Vlell, Worth Ryder had been brought in to break the
standoff vetween Eugen lNeuhaus and his particular am-
bitions and ideas, and Perham Nahl and his, ifahl and
Heuhaus worked at logggrheads so that the art department
was at a standstill as a result, It was felt that Worth
Ryder would bring in the latest information from Europe
and might solve the dilemma, He came into the University
under Stevhen Pepper's enthusiastic support. His way
was hard but he broke the log jam and started the art
department on its present path, Really he was the
founder of the present art depaftment.

Anyway, I 1lit out to Europe and landed in Paris with
the assurance of what little money I had and $30 a month.

But in those days the European currencies were terribly
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inflated, and they were very cheap in American
terms, so I got by,
Pirst you studied with Andre 1l'Hote in Paris?
Andre 1l'Hote was a doctrinaire Cubist really. He
was a minor member, as a painter, of the early Cu-
bist grouv, wihom I think formulated a kind of a
Cubist dogma. I% was not of tremendous scove either,
but e was, tue peovle told me when I studied in
Europe, the only place other than the Hofmann studio
in Munich where you could find these things out, I
tried his workshop out during the summer before I
went down to St. Tropez to Hofmann,

L'Hote's mode of tecching left me a little cold,
I wanted to ask cuecstions of somebody ggﬁll walked in-
to the studio. He was not there for four days a week,
The fifth day he would show up with a monitor and a
huge palette, and he would repaint everything you did
and not say a word. I wanted to ask him questions.
Once in a2 while he would talk in French, which I did
not understand very well, and I gathered that there
was such a thing as a picture surface, and I gathered
ideas to the effect that the drawing must be flat but
the color must be deep. In other words, you should

achieve space through advancing and receding color, but
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you must draw like an Egyptian, everything on the
surface,

Well, this seemed to me to he a limi%ed approach,
at the least., I knew that you could get depth with
drawing more effectively than you could with color and
I wondered then why his paintings seemed to comne out
oretty much warm and cold, brown and blue, ‘The di-
mensions of color were simnly not enough to‘carry the
whole burden of space. He used to give us an exercise
such as making a checkerboard and then animating this
checkerboard svatially through color. You would have
to paint certain squares so that they would advance
and certain squares so that they would recede, and so
forth. Obviously he was working with the idea of
equivocal svace, wnich is now nretty well understood,
the victure surface ané the imaginal space behind the
picture surface, but in kind of a limited way.

I found when I got in contact with Hofmann in
Munich that the German Expressionists had a ruch freer
way of dealing with these matters. They s:owed how
Matisse, and Picasso for that matter, sometimes used
drawing as a spatial implement; sometimes they used it
as a flattening implement; sometimes they uscd color as

a spoce implement; sometines they used color as a flat-



=




Wessels:

Rie

6]
&)

Wessels:

106

tening invlement and so on., You were Iree to work
witih 2 larger keyboard, as it were, than rou could
under 1l'Hote., Tnis may be an unfair criticism. I

was only there for a month or thereabouts, mavbe only
three weeks, I am not sure, But I gothered that it
was a rigid, dogmeosic kind of teaching of undoubted
value, but it seemed limited to me, varticularly after
I got to St. Tropez and started to understand what
Hofmann was doing.

Spencer ilacky wenl there in 1926 too.

Yes, 1l'liote's was tlie place to go. In tiose days very
few people saw beyond Paris. Waen you went to Europe,
you went to Paris and that was varticularly so for ar-
tists, Actually, just as mucn of importance was going
on beyond tiie Rhine as was going on there, but the Ameri-
cans had been Paris-oriented for various reasons, and
tney never got out of Paris or beyond Paris, but Paris
wasn't necessarily everything, by any means.

People like Benton and Curry and so on who rejected
Paris, would they have studied with a man like 1'Hote?
They show signs of having--Benton, particularly in his
rnore technical articles, shows signs of having come
under the influence of modern picture structure. They
worked out their own compromises with it. I think their

rejection of Paris was vnartly propaganda, I think they
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were right in trying to assert that an American
barn was just as good as a French barn to paint,
that American subject matter and American legend
were just as good as the ‘European legends--here
they were right. Where I think they were wrong
was the...

There is always the tendency to overemphasize
when you are trying to start a new religion. They
were trying to put American art on its own feet, and
it was time that it did get on its own feet too.
They were trying to say that America could get along
without Burope and it could. But you must realize
what they were reacting against in their day. It
was the fact that no one could have any culture, no
one could amount to anything unless he had been to
Paris, You had to go abroad and do the grand tour,
otherwise you just were not counted. Actually now
most of the good art teachers are here in America,

A great deal of the good museum stuff is in Americsa,
although not all by any means. The thiﬁgs that can
be removed, a good many of them have come here in one
way or another,

And most of the good art teachers and the people

with the real ideas migrated to America after the firs?t
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Wessels: World War, Hofmann amongst them, So when I went
back to Europe again, I was appalled at the state
of European art schools, They were not as good as
American art schools. The monuments, the great cul-
tural monuments we all should know about are still
there, but I don't think it is necessary for a stu-
dent to go to Europe now, If he does go, he should
not go to an art school most of the time, he should
spend his time looking at the things that are too
big to bring over here, He should go and see El
Greco and Toledo and look at the first four rooms of
the Uffizi and spend a little time with Chardin and
a few others in the Louvre and a few other things that
we don't have over here. This you should go for; but
to go over there to study, you probably get worse
teachers than you will here, and that is saying a good

deal. [Laughter]
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HANS HOFIMANN, FROM MUNICH TO BERKELEY

Wessels: After studying with 1l'Hote in Paris, I later
went down to the Hofmann summer sessions in St.
Trovez. There I discovered that Hofmann svoke only
German and PFrench and I had neither. So I sat up
nights with a high school text book in German learn-
ing German because I was desperate. Here I was, and
here was the man who had what I had to have, and I
could not communicate with him. [Laughter] It was
an awful situation.

After about three weeks work, I could not under-

stand what was going on, and I had to ask questions.
I would make drawings and destroy them and more draw-
ings and tear them up in anger. One time I was slash-
ing into a drawing--mostly in desperation, I think--
and I did not know that Hofmann had come up behind me.
The first thing I knew I got a slap on the back, and
he said, "Courage, courage," [Laughter] and I got the
idea that perhaps this was the right way to do it. But
I determined that I was going to be able to make a better
communication than that so, as I said, I worked hard at
German and I painted all day as best I could, with the

result that at the end of the summer, six weeks, I had






Top:

Left to right: Ruth Hoffman (no relation, but a student of
Hans Hofmann, who is next right); next is G. Wessels, taking
notes on what Hofmann is saying and translating from German
to English as Hofmann speaks; the girl back of Wessels is
unidentified. [This is in St. Tropez, Hofmann's summer session
of 1929, where I was his assistant and translator. Ruth
Hoffman is co-author of several books along with her sister,
Helen. They were identical twins. One of their books is
entitled We Married an Englishman., Somewhere in their

books is an account of their St. Tropez visit in which both
Hans and I are mentioned. (These books are in the Berkeley
Public Library.) G.W.]

Bottom: Left to right: Helen Hoffman; H.H. giving a crit; next

St.

two not identified; Wessels standing far right. This is
a typical scene in the St. Tropez Hofmann school.
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Tropez: Hofmann's Summer Session of 1929
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taught myself rudimentary German.
One day Hofmann and I were seated together
in a restaurant, and I can still remember this

as one of the great moments. He said, "Ich wollte,

dass wir”gg;g;;;;EYEEEEEﬁgﬁ% I want that we should

study together. I w0uld‘like you to teach me Eng-
lish; I would like to teach you German." This was
just what I wanted.

Then a friend who later became one of the di-
rectors of the Guggenheim Museum in New York, Fred
Hauck, now dead, and myself, traveled through Italy
and I saw the tremendous things to be seen there, at
least for a painter. We ended up in Munich for the
winter, and Hofmann invited me to come to his studio
every morning at six o'clock in the morning. It would
be hard, and I would have to wade through the snow to
get there. The French were taking all the coal for
reparations at the time, so the studio was cold. Hof-
mann had designed a very efficient stove, however (by
the way, he had a patent on it). It was a kind of
improved Franklin stove. We sat by that, but in order
to keep ourselves warm, we were wrapped up in still-
life drapery! We looked like a couple of sultans or

Turks all wrapped in draperies with different patterns
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Wessels: to stay warm.

When we started out he said, "I don't want to
learn about the 'pen of my aunt'. I want to learn
the words I use in criticism." This is just exactly
what I wanted, too, so we were able to communicate
just a little bit. We. started out at first simply
with the words you use in class criticism-- auf,unter,

n
rechts, links, fﬁggﬁ zuruck, and so forth. I learned

the words and he learned the words in Enélish along
with the gestures. Then I would wfite a question in
English and translate from the dictionary into German
the best I could, and he would take this and correct
the German and learn tﬁe English; Then he would write
the answer in German, and I would then translate the
answer as best I could. Then he would correct the Ger-
nan and I would learn the German and he would learn the
English. Slowly we built up communication.

This went on for two years. 1 was able to ask all
of the art and philosophy questions that had been both-
ering me and get his attitudes on then. He, in doing
this, gained the vocabulary that he needed. I can still
remember a sense of triumph during the second year when
in the studio correction he immediately changed over

into English and everyone almost fell over dead!

/
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[Laughter] He delighted in the moment because it

was dramatic, but he was a proven success. He

never became very good at speaking English because

he has a tendency to mix French and German with it,
but he was understéhdablé'and}was able to get along

in English.

Did he have many foreign students?

Yes, it was an international school, really, with

some Americans. Anongst the Americans who had dis-
covered him were Vaclav Vytlacil and later Worth
Ryder. Ryder and Vytlacil had become friends in

Capri during an Hans Hof%;;g summer session., Capri was
the summer session place for the Hofmann summer school
previous to his coming to St. Tropez. Vytlacil who
later taught here at the University--a sort of prelude
to Hofmann's coming--and Ryder became fast friends

and Vytlacil persuaded Ryder to join the Hofmann group
in Munich.

Now then the significant thing, as far as the
University was concerned: I received a communication
from Worth Ryder that he thought he could arrange a
summer session job for Hofmann if I could persuade
Hofmann to come, and if I could prepare him to come.

So my job then became one ¢f diplomacy--Hofmann was
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viewing the growing Hitler thing with alarm. .and
so the moment was ripe for him to make a change,
but he was a man along in years and to make a
change from one culture to another was a serious
step at that time in his ‘life., He pumped me for
everything about America: the kind of a place it
was, and so forth, I did the very best I could to
sell him on the notion that he should go to the
University and use that as a stepping stone, Later
verhaps he could find a career in America,

We began preparing talks that he would give
in America, and I began teaching him how, He wasn't
a good public speaker particularly, so I tried to
teach him what little I knew about it. He would give
a speecnh, and I would criticize--we were just like
two brothers together. Both of us worked very hard to
improve his means of communication, but still by the
time we were ready to go he was not able to make a
public speech in English, so it was determined that
I should be his impromptu translator., He could com=-
municate with me, and then I would tell the audience,
and that is the way we carried it out until he ocame
to Berkeley. I helped him through the first summer

session at Berkeley, then Worth Ryder took over., By
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that time Hofmann was doing well enough to do it
almost all alone. I went back to the College of
Arts and Crafts to teach.

But before that there were certain curious and
significant things that haopnened. /e met in Paris
with the idea of coming %o America and immediately,
due to one of these kinds of accidents which always
seem to follow me around, I was in a gallery with
Hofmann and I was backing un to look at a painting,

I think it was a Derain, and I stepped on a very
large foot. I turned around to apologize (in English)
and a man who had squinty eyes and a very large nose
and a very anmiable looking face said, "Oh, you are an
American."

I said, "Yes, I'm sorry about the foot."

He said, "Oh, the foot's all right. What do you
think of the victure?"

So we fell into a very interesting discussion of
the picture's construction and of criticism in general
and he seemed to brighten when he found out that I had
something to say, and we moved from picture to picture
and finally came around to where Hans was standing at
the other end of the room. I said, "I want to intro-

duce you to my friend, but I don't know your name."
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He said, "I am Leo Stein."

Hofmann looked at him and he looked at Hofmann
and they realized that they were o0ld friends and that
they had known one another before., But to make a
long matter short, we were then taken up by Gertrude
Stein's group, and the last three or four weeks in
Paris we met everybody who was of any note at all--
we visited Picasso's studio, Bragque's studio, and
everybody, we were right in the thick of it. It was
so dazzling to a person like myself that I still re-
member it as sort of a high »eriod. I was able to
actually ask Braque why he painted five pictures from
one still life, I said, "Isn't that terribly hard?
Like playing five games of chess?"

He said, "Oh, no, it is much easier. You see,
so many ideas come from one still 1life that I have to
sort them out in five canvasses." And other questions
like that,

This was a bar at the corner of Boulevard St.
Hichely(ﬁhe "Boul' Mich'") and Illontnarnasse. ILeo Stein
took me there and t0ld me vhat had gone on there.
Thnat time we [Stein and Yessels] talked way late into
the evening about tae future of American architecture,

I can remember. But this had been kind of o meeting
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place and an arguing olace, k%ind of a Cedar Bar--
(the New York Cedar Bar, I understand, has been that
for the New York people for some time). It was a
place where young men with ideas, very avant garde
ideas, could compare notes, It was not official, it
wasn't a club, it is just that they met each other
there and had extended discussions, arguments, and
bull sessions. Delauney and Hofmann, who were very
close friends and who I believe shared the studio at
that time, 2t least part of the time, were part of this
group.,

I struck up a very odd, short-lived, but neverthe-
less close friendship with Leo Stein. I was an inquiring
nmind, and apparently he liked inquiring minds, and he
filled me in, He even took me to some of these places
where he had met Hofmann before in years vnast., Appar-
ently before the Pirst Vorld War, Hofmann had Dbeen one
of--not a very well known one--but one of the same group
that was made up of pretty near all the early Cubists,
Picasso, Delauney, Gris, Picabia, latisse, all these
men, and had known them, rubbed shoulders with them, and
nhad argued with them,

We finally--after about two weeks--set out for

America, and on board ship we worked on our notes for
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‘essels: the talks that Hofmann would be giving. We landed
in ew York. I won't go into the details, the
amusing adavntations and the funny things that hap-
pened, but for some reason or another, I don't know
quite how, the Art Student's League heard that a
very inmportant European teacher was in town so they
got the idea that he should not go to California,
nhe should stay there and teach., I found myself
confronted by the board of directors--or whatever--
of the Art Student's League, and I had to defend
Hofmann's contract with the University of California.
I told Hofmann privately, "This is fine later, but
not now., Americans are wonderful at blowing you up
to tremendous size and then exploding you. Don't get
blown up too quickly, go slowly." In the later years
when we met in New York, Hans slapped me on the back,
and said, "You are so wise; you were so right. How
can a young man be so right?"

Riess: Yes, really, how did you know that?

Wessels: Vell, I had this idea that Americans have a way of
making a saint of a man, then dropping him,

The way that I got Hofmann out of the idea--he

was sort of attracted to the idea of teaching for the

Art Student's League--I said, "Look out, don't take
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Wessels: this important position, The only condition under
which you should accept is to have a contract that
you should be director of the school. Otherwise
you will find yourself in 21l kinds of political
difficulties, and they will kill you. Don't accept
unless you can be the boss. If you can be boss, all
rignt, then we will telegraph the University of Cali-
fornia that you can't come. Unless they let you be
boss, don't take it."

So he flatly pregented‘it to them this way., He
could not teach unless he was the director. Ile had
always directed his own school in Burope, and he could
not work unless he could order the whole situation that
surrounded him, Only then could he accent their offer.

Well, they fell immediately into internecine war-
fare and jealousy, and political strife, and it beceme
evident how wise he was in refusing. So Hofmann was
not stopved in New York. When he later came to New
York and taught at the Art Student's League, he dis-
covered exactly the same thing was true, and he retired
from the Art Student's League to start his own school
over the Village Inn on 8th Street, where his reputation
as an American teacher grew to the point where it is

today. He was still the director of his own school.
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What was the sort of lecture that Hofmann gave en
route?

It was purely on picture structure, It was very
dull, really. The sensation-seeker got nothing from
him. Vnen 1 worried about that a little bit, why, he
would say, "You know, I'm only talking to the one or
two, I don't care about the rest."

But he talked; not just a demonstration.

No, he had to lecture, I had to stand just two paces
vack, and translate.

On one occasion, I remember it still with shock,
he turned to me at the beginning of the lecture and
said, "I don't think anyone here speaks German, do they?"
I said, "No."

He said, "You know the lecture; I don't have to
say anytning." So he'began making outrageous puns and
comments on the appearance of the peovple in the audi-
ence. Here I was having to give a sober lectﬁre on art,
[laughter] and all the time having to watch him laugh
at me squirming. But at any rate, we made it across
the continent.

Who had arranged the lectures?
Friends, Cameron Booth in Minneapolis who was head of

the school at St. Paul; John Haley, now on our staff,
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was one of Cameron Booth's private students, Earl
Loran another. They were all there then. Cameron
Booth had been an early Hofmann student. In Chicago
there were early Hofmann students; Vytlacil had been
there. So we hopved from New York to Chicago to
Minneapolis to San Francisco, with lectures all along
the way.

Was Hofmann's reputation mostly as a teacher?

His reputation was almost entirely as a man who
evolved a method for unfolding personality in art.

His school began,as I understand it, with the per-
mission of the German government during the First
World War as a means of rehabilitating shell-shocked
soldiers., 1ie started a little group for rehabilitating
these peonle through drawing and painting, sort of
therapeutic art, His theories were that the act of
creating form--I am thinking in German here, Gestaltung
is the word--that the act of constructing something
has an integrative force on the personality, that this
could help a man whose wits were scattered get them
together again. As I understand it (and this is all
very vague) in the background of the Hofmann school
was this beginning.

Then foreigners began to discover this, and it
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changed slowly from a sort of therapeutic thing over

to a teaching of the fundamentals of contemporary
painting. Hofmann's early associations in Paris

with Delauney and Picasso and the Cubists and his

real knowledge and appreciation of German Expressionist
trends was the basis of his teaching. He was in on

the foundations of Cubism in Paris, and the basis of
his teaching was Cubism,

Just when was he in Paris?

He was a studio mate of Delauney and I think he sat

in on those famous arguments in the Cloiserie de Lilas
when Picasso and the others were discussing the basis
of Cubism, He was in Paris up until the First World
War broke when as a German he was expatriated immedi-
ately back to Germany. He had not been back to Germany
for years, and the only way he could stay out of the
German army was to teach shell-shocked soldiers, That
is where it all started,

When I knew him, he was feeling his way with his
new doctrines in teaching, and foreign students were
gathered at this very obscure two-room art school in
Munich out in Schwabing, which was the Munich art
quarter, and 40 Georgenstrasse was the addrcss'of the

Hofmannschule, There were other, better known teachers
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Vlessels: in Munich who ran onrivete studios, but Hofmann had
as an idea man drawn the attention of the liberals
in Germany already and when the red putsch took
place —-~you know they had a series of changes in
government between the liberals and the conservatives
in Germany for awhile--and the liberals took over in
llunicn for maybe two or three weeks, immediately
they apvointed Hofmann as the head of the Munich
Academy. Then two or three weeks later the whites
took over again, and they ousted him, and he went
back to his school in Georgenstrasse. But this showed
that he had already become an idea man, a figure among
the Munich artists.,

His school increasingly became a meeting ground
for people from all nationalities., You met Turks and
Swedes and Norwegians, and Greeks, and all sorts of
people there besides a few Germans and some Americans.,
Winen I went there, there were mayue three or four
Americans. Altogether there would not be more than
thirty students. Classes consisted of figure drawing
class in which the figure was always composed in context
(and I recognized Isabelle West's old figure and ground
problem). Then there would be a still-life painting

class,
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Wessel

Hofmann, unlike most art teachers in Europe,

4]

religiously attended to each student at least twice
a week, You always knew that you would get at least
two periods of comnunion with him to talk things over,
Of course, I had much more than that because I also
worked with him from six to eight every morning. But
you really got considerate attention and careful
an2lysis of your work, Having tried several other
ateliers in Europe both in Germany and France, I know
that this was not the case elsewhere., The French
teachers are particularly aot to think that you are
studying with them just so that you can say that you
hove the right to use their name, and they just don't
pay much attention to you. Ilost Eurovean art classes
are even now run by a monitor and the teacuer shows up
and looks things over grandly maybe once a month or so.
That is about 2ll the contact you have with the private
Buropean teacher of art., Hofmann, though, was always
in there »nitching, counseling, helving., You never mis;ed
seeing hinm at least twice a week,

Riess: Did he enjoy teaching?

Vessels: I think he took it very seriously as a kind of mission,
lIe would sit down and you had made a drawing and he would

say, "llow maybe this is one way of seeing it, but I don'st
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think it is the bvest way of seeing it. I think you
should see 1t perhaps this way." Then he would make
a little diagram and show you how the main paris--
and it would be a Cubist diagram--how the main parts
of what you were drawing sihould fit together.

"I think this wbuld he 2 better way of seeing it."

"Way would 1t be a better way to see it?"

"I think this is a better war of seeing it because
it becomes a foundation for a much richer visual ex--
perience," And he would give you a good reason why.
Tnen he would say,"Now vou could also see it this way,
or you could also see it this way, but I think this is
the most productive way to see it." I have sketches of
his in whichh he has analyzed a model--sitting on a
vodium withh dranes in the background--in seven different
ways, and then putting a circle arounda the one that he
thought was the best way of thinking about it. This
kind of teaching very much appealed to mec,.

The peovnle that I found there all became leading
American teachers later, The manwno immediately vre-
ceded me as lofmann's translator for his American
students was Edgar Ruprecht who was a leading teacher
for years in the Chicago Art Institute, and his wife

Isabelle still is teaching at Chicago, I believe,
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Just preceding him as Hofmann's trznslator was
Vytlaeil who was a brilliant vpainter also from

the Chiicago Art Institute. He had been working

witl llofmann for seven years and came bacz to New
York to teacn at the ~rt Situdent's League and

becane a very influential teacher and painter in

idew York., Then the mural vpainter, Anton Refregier,
who did the murals in tae Rincon Post O0ffice--

Anton Refregier is a former llofmann student, and
adopted Hofmann's ways of analyses and so forth in
his own mural v»ainting successfully. Cameron Booth
wno was tihe director of the St. Paul School of Design
where dJohn Haley and Earl Loran both learned their
fundanmentals, was an early student of Hofmann's, I
think that is why Johnm went tolﬂunich to study. Vorth
Ryder had been roped in, as I told you before, by his
friendship with Vrtlacil.

Everybody kent discovering that here was something
especially good and he'd pass it along to his friends.,
Worth Ryder passed it on to me in the same way, It
was a scnool where each persoa was dealt with as an
individual and yet general problems were discussed.
The classroom was a quiet hive of experiments and

learning. It was really a wonderful acsociation.
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There were a few dilettantes around, 2 few came over

to play in Europe and study a little art incidentally,
but there weren't enough to disturb us.

When I talked to Neuhaus about Hofmann, he did not

nave much use for his teaciiing methods.,.

Neuhaus never got it. Neuhaus filled his place in

U.Cey I think, very well, but I think Neuhaus' jealousy
of Vorth Ryder soured any possibility that anything

that Ryder would sponsor could have any good in it.
Neuhaus started out with a prejudice and he just did

not get very far. He 3g§n§hti-modern art although he
himself was responsible for opening the University's
ideas in that direction in the first

place, It is very funny how the avant garde thinker

of one generation becomes the conservative of the next.
I have always tried not to be that way. I have seen it
happen too many times. A man when he was young, and his
mind was flexible, opened himself to new ideas and became
the leader of these new_ideas. Then when another value
comes up over the horizon it suddenly changes this thing
that you have come to believe in as the be-all and end-
all of art, and you are not ready to accept it, the
change, that is all. You have too much energy and money

invested in this thing that you have learned and you
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simply will not change., If there is anything true
about life and art it is that they do change! But
very often the most radical avant: garde of one
generation vecome the most dogmatic of the next.
And as I say, this is something that I hope that I
have successfully combstted in myself,
Wnen Hofmann accepted the one summer session in
America, did he realize that this might lead to a
conplete move?
Hofmann was an adventurer in the sense that he was
ready to take a chance, He always did have a rather
dangerously gay attitude towards his own importance.
I guess I could best illustrate this by telling you
about the Buick,

The first thing he did when he got over here--
he had always wanted to own an automobile and he could
not drive--was to buy an old, blue Buick, This was
the second summer that he came over here, and he began
to have a little money., He bought this big 0ld blue
Buick, and he was determined that he was going to be
modern and drive, and he had never driven a car, He
came up here from Los Angeles., He had been teaching
at the Chouinard art school, and he had with him Harry

Bowden, who had been his assistant at Chouinard. He
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had learned to drive after a fashion, and I would

underline that! I was supposed to meet him and go
for a ride in his monster. He picked me un over
here someplace, and ﬁe went over here onto Bancroft,
and before you could say "Scat" we were down at the
Bay. He had no regard for Stop signs, speed signals,
or anything else. He just stepped on the pedal and
said "Whoopee" and away we went. I was frozeﬁ with
horror, but I did not say anything. He was just in
a seventh heaven; he was just having himself a balll
I think he was rather, what shall I say, the kind of
a man that will say, "Well, here goes nothing; I am
going to try it." I think it is much in that same
spirit tnat he came to America,
He does not sound very German at all,
He was the more adventurous kind of German. Those
people who come from around Wﬁrtenberg and Obenfranchen
are not the stodgy German tyne. Hofmann was gay and
had quite a bit of the French elan about him. Hofmann
always was a man who enjoyed a good laugh and would
take a chance on a thinge.

He tells very numorously about the man who tried
to pick him for $600 in a dark alley one time and who

pointed a gun at him, Hofmann was no athlete, but
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apparently he took the gun away from the man rather
than give up all the money he had in the world. He

had a kind of foolhardy courage. He was always willing
to jump into the unknown, This was also true of his
nainting. He was always,up to his very last day,
willing to take it on the chin. Coming to America

was one of these, He felt pretty much, I think, like
an astronaut, When we st=orted out across the ocean,

he said, "I feel like Columbus,."

I can't overemvhasize this as an element in his
character; he was a researcher; he was trying new things,
he wanted to see if they would work. I think that is
one of the reasons that he accepted., He said, "Europe
is sick. Maybe America is healthy." This is one of
the things that he said on the way over; I think that
he found it healthy and he came back here again and
again and finally stayed.

So eacn time he went back, he knew that he was going

to come back.

Yes, I think he went back only to arrange his affairs.
Then his wife did not come over until quite a bit later,
did she?

No, after he got things arranged over here so that he

had an economic base, he brought her over. They had
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Wessels: property to take care of in Germany. ZIverything they
had, after all, was there, There were very difficult
economic circumstances in Germany at the time, They
nad an inflation aud then the deflation, This wiped
out practically all the middle classj the money they
had became worthless. And new money took its place
and so on. You have to realize what a terrific effect
tiie inflation and deflation had on Germany when the
Reichsmark came in., And when the Remtenmark carie in
instead of the Reichsmark, the Reichsmark was no good.
Vhy, I pvaid for a dinner for 12 people with one American
dollar, and there was not enough change in the inn to
gi&e me change for my dollar! This was how cheav the
dinner was., And one year later the same dinner cost
just as much as it would have over here,

Well, Hofmann escaped that by coming to America
and establishing confidence here before everything he
had went down the drain in Germany.

Riess: I noticed there was a show at the Palace of the Legion
of Honor the year after he came,

Vlessels: Yes, a show of drawings., I had seen Hofmann draw, but
he was very secretive avout his drawings, he did not
show then to most of thé students, All they ever saw

were his diagrams. His argument was, and I think that
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it was a good one, that he did not want veople to

cony nis style of work. He wanted them to work with

essential principles and develon themselves and so he

was very éﬂarj about showing his things. It is the

most mistaken kind of idolatry when the student tries

to adopt the mannerism of tihe master instead of the

basic princinles on which the master works, Hofmann

drummed this into me, He said, "Iow you have seen

these things; they are not for you--these 2re my things! "
This is one of the reasons that he has had such a

diverse groun of students, each one developing his own

style. He taught the grammar but the style was yours;

he taught the basics but the develovment was yours; xe

tried to point out that you could not teach a person to

paint in the way that you paint. The old, traditional

way of teaching art had been...well, I can best describe

it, I think, by a picture I saw in an art magazine one

<t

ime: a cartoon of the master with his brush poised

standing before the class and a little string goes from
his brush to the ceiling and it radiates in a number of
threads, finally to a string on every brush in the whole
room and everyvody is mgking he strokes in exactly the

way as does the teacher,
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Riess: T was surprised that the Legion of Honor had done
the show. I had thought that their bent was more
conservative,

Wessels: They were at that time, verr much so, 3But Worth
Ryder's influence, reputation, and diplomacy was
so good that he -was able to wangle the thing. It
was really almost unioticed as an art event because

The peovnle in San Francisco wio were interested in
art were all agog about the liexican Revolution art
at that tinme.

Riess: What did Hofmann think of the Ilexican Revolution art?

Wessels: Vell, wnen he talled about art from political conviction,
ne said, "All art comes from a conviction. If you
believe in a political party and you are an artist, it
nay be that you may do some art on these grounds. But
first you have to be aan artist."

Riess: Inplying that he did not think that...

vessels: "I think Orozco came higher tha Rivera in his estimation,
simply as an artist; although their political convictions
may have been alike, one was an artist and the other
was probably not so much of an artist, more of a
decorative illustrator. He liked very much some of the
other Mexicans that did not fit into the Revolutionary

pattern so well, Who was the man who was named after a
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‘lessels: place in Yucatan? Merida, Carlos ilerida was the
one that Hofmann thought was the most significant
Ilexican 2t tnat tine,
Rless: Jow, 1f you would tell me more a2bout the teaching.
Vlescels: The classes were limited. Vorthh Ryder was a great
nan for keeving "guild secrets ." He thought in a
sort of iedieval way 2bout imparting knowledge.
Really sometimes this was detrimental and sometimes
very good. He wanted to »nrotect Hofmann from the
usual foonfaranh that ettends visiting dignitaries,
So he carefully sifted the veorle that he allowed
to come into the classes and allowed in only people
ne thought would take advantage of it and would not
disturb Hofmann and would be already predisnosed to
be friendly rather than indulging in violeut arguments
and so forth. ©So many v»eople were fighting to get into
these classes, but they could not make it past VWorth
Ryder,

Tne formal part of his instruction was in the old
shingle building which is still there wiere city plan-
ning used to be on the other side of the campus., This
great tall strueture has marvelous studios in it. It
originally was built for art studios and still should be

used so because they are the best studios on the camvus.
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e had one of those studios for Hofmann's life class.
His system of using the model was to arrange an en-
vironment and then to vlace the model in the environ-
ment, and the student had to draw not only the figure
but the figure in relation to other things because
Hofmann kept saying, "Things only exist in relation."
This same pnose in another environment would become

a different compositional problem and so forth.

He arranged the objects in the room with great
care., For instance, all the light came from one side
in the room and that cast deep shadows in certain
areas., I can remember Hofmann before class-time going
around with huge sheets of bright colored paper and
illuminating the shadows so that one could look into
them and see something, Then killing the glare of
white walls by darkening them with sheets of paper and
so forth., Co when you looked around the room, you got
an alternation of dark and light that was kind of alive.
Nothing was dead. He said, "The human mind only thinks
when there are contrasts." He felt that the whole studio
should be conducive to the way that the person worked
so that from whatever view you got the model you got a
background of something there, something you could

compose with and work with in relation to the figure,
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This was rather unusual in those days because
the traditional way to use the model was simply to
stand the model on the podium in the middle of the
room and you just drew the figure as a closed form;
you 4id not relate it to anything. The idea that
forms exist in relation was not part of the formal
art instruction in the typical school of the time,
I never had it before Hofmann and I don't thinkvthat
a great many other peovle did either, This idea that
form exists only in relation, well, this was pre-
Einstein perhaps. It became obvious once the thing
was demonstrated to you. But it was part of Hofmann's
teaching method.
Then when you approached a blank piece of paper, a
blank canvas, how did you fill it?
He would say when you approached the blank canvas,
first you must know where you are before you can say
anything. What is your relationship to that out there?
Are you to the left; are you to the right; are you
looking straight at it? Everything depends on the first
few basic lines you put down to describe the kind of
space. There is left hand spacej; there is right hand
space., Now, for instance, if I sit here and do a

portrait of you, you are a little over to my right side.
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The edge of my picture would probably come right
down the line of this table here. There is my
center of vision over there, but this whole picture
would be composed on the rignt side. All of the
forms which would move back, would move back in
this way which 1is characteristic of right-hand
space, the right-hand half of the total perspective
pattern. 1iHe would say that it wes terribly signi-
ficant for you to be absolutely sure where you are
before you grasp what is out there. You have to
express your relationshin to nature, otherwise you
express nothing. We usually were very careful about
hhow we set our easels, always in the same way in
relationship to the model on account of this dictum,
This idea that things exist only in relation
went all the way through Hofmann's teaching. The
"push-oull” thing, for instance (it came to ve kind
of a slang vhrase later in his teaching, an over-
simplification of action and reactirn if you like),
was a statement of relations.
Ilaybe it does have something to do with Einstein and
relativity.
It does very definitely., But Hofmann vointed out

that this is implicit in the art of the 0ld masters.
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There was nothing new about it except that it had

not been stated in words before. He showed you how

an El Greco head which is right in the upper left

hand corner of the picture if transposed to the lower
right hand corner of the picture does not fit at all:
it is neither good anatomy nor is it good composition
in a different position. It just has to be the way it
is where it is. The form is subject to the total
always. He also said, "It is like you play on a team,
You play a certain position and you are conditioned to
fit that position."

Would he say then that any good art would have
embodied this principle?

Yes, the highest art always embodies this principle,
In fact, he thought the higher the quality of the art,
the more thoroughly the principle of relativity went
down with every brush stroke,

So he could illustrate this with the Cubist kind of
thing.

Yes, he would show how one brush stroke in a Cezanne
related to the total and if you moved that brush stroke
that whole picture would have to be re-composed.

When he was coming across the country, how did he
illustrate the kinds of talks that he gave?

He talked and he used some diagrams,



L_Eul - n N I.I = I I * | ‘= 1
:l.- Ilr )Il ._— E n ll N
CER D - Ta® . - i
.:.l h- l | | | | | H B B
ﬁ r-* = -EII | | B
Syl =y = S me™ " 7
ISR | -ﬂ .-.l-
LA .r.'r.._. - - .

n = L Iﬂ#‘ F .‘ ‘ l l
“|u -'E-l I LS
3 AR

- _—.l:l.lpll.l..,-l-_l-..l... ke

i e n )
h.l FC=.1 “1." U "Rl
et Ly - e =
Wu-q." . =y .F. N Pgun -
] am l. N ‘.J ) e l.
#IH.‘:.ﬂ .r.l - ] .'. l.l a
- . . ™ '. ] .:I s -Jll - *
(|
Y :"u'::l u - -'.- -‘L - n'd _— ml
"o g-":l ?. l.l Il:q- "l A.L I..l
SRR 1, i .,u...rq-. ¢z )
mi.ml --.l 'r. e .: -'T.::rllﬂ'l 'UI._,T.
. L B - ".’:."' il = ‘."." sl e
] . - nes = s e F'P'".l_”‘ |‘ hze l'..v".



138

Riess: Did he show slides?

Vlessels: No, he didan't. He Just talked avout what the funda-
mentals of art were, IHis talks were not at all, I
think, what people honed and exnected to hear., He
simply would not talir about ilexican Revolutionary
art. And he would not talk about art movements in
the way that the critics talked about them a2t all,

It was all one thing to him, good or bad. He just
talked about the fundamentals of the picture structure,
and perhaps only about one person out of ten was
interested in that.

Riess: About the kind of thing that you were just talking
about?

Wessels: Exactly, thils was what his message was--that a house
to be sound must be built on this foundation and that
was all there was to it, énd this was the most impor-
tant thing; if it is to live as a work of art, it must
be well formed, it must ve built right.

Riess: Yes, I guess that really would survrise people who would
like to hear a little gossin about Paris.

Wessels: That's right, that is exactly it. Hordes of people
came expecting all kinds of entertaining gossip and so
on, and stories of his acquaintanceship with
this famous artist and that famous artist.

He would not bring those things into
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it. He would talk only about the fundementals.
Did he answer questions from the audience?
Sometimes, yes. There was some discussion.

Now there were specifically two major talks.

There was one minor one to the officials of the Art
Student's League of New York explaining why he did not
want to join their organization. We stopped in Chicago
and there was a very informal session there in the home
of one of his former students. hen we went to Minne-
apolis where the ground had been laid and Hofmann
talked not only in the St. Paul School of Art which

is right next to linneanolis but also at the univer-
sity. Cameron Booth, who was a very influential person
there, had been a Hofmann student, and so he drew large
audiences there, There was real discussion and clarifi-
cation during these talks.

But then again it was very silly that he should be
asked by the Deutsches--American Bund or something or
other to talk about his impressions of America when
his impressions were limited to a day in New York and
a day in Chicago and a day in Minneapolis [laughter].
He said, "I simply haven't any impressions yet., I
have impressions about your Middle VWest architecture--

it looks very ascetic. I have some impressions about
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its He would talk only about the fundementals,
Did he answer questions from the audience?
Sometimes, yes. There was some discussion.,

Now there were specifically two major talks.

There was one minor one to the officials of the Art
Student's League of New York explaining why he did not
want to join their organization. We stopped in Chicago
and taere was a very informal session there in the home
of one of his former students. Then we went to Minne-
apolis where the ground had been laid and Hofmann
talked not only in the St. Paul School of Art which

is right next to llinneanolis but also at the univer-
sity. Cameron Booth, who was a very influential person
there, had been a Hofmann student, and so he drew large
audiences tnere., There was real discussion and clarifi-
cation during these talks.

But then again it was very silly that he should be
asked by the Deutsches--American Bund or something or
otner to talk about his impressions of America when
his impressions were limited %o 2 day in New York and
a day in Chicago and a day in Minneapolis [laughter].
He said, "I simply haven't any inmpressions yet. I
have impressions about your Middle Viest architecture--

it looks very ascetic. I have some impressions about
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New York, and so forth." But there I think they went
away disappointed. It was kind of a banquet dinner

thing where they expected a witty after-dinner speaker
and a good many of them had confused him with the Hofmann
who wes a teacher in Vienna, I think, who was better
known at the time. And Hofmeann laughed about all this.,.
He said, "They did not come 1t0 hear me; they came to

hear some ideas of their own." He said, "Really, these
peovle are potentially in old Germany; they don't realize
that things have changed in new Germany." Germans every-
where were always reaching out for him just because he
was a German. And he was not a German, If he was any-
thing, he was an internationalist.

How did you get across country? VWas it by train?

Let's see, the Lakeside Limited to Chicago, and then
from Chicago to liinneavolis by whatever the shortest

way is, I don't know what railroad that is. It seems

to me that we had to change at Kansas City or something,
yes, I know we did. Then by Union Pacific through the
Feather River Canyon and so forth to Sacramento and
through to here. I told you about Hofmann sitting up

all night to look at the Rocky llountains, didn't I?

No, I was going to ask you how ne liked it visually,

Well, he said--and I could cxpand on this because I
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zgot 2 car and drove him around a bit when we got out
here--but first, he was astounded by the size and
vitality of New York. I think he said, "There is no
question of it; this is the heart throb of the world.
This is going to be the leading city of the world,"
This is what he said after we had only been there a
few days. And, "It is very beautiful in a very hard
and efficient way."

Vhen we began going across the country, he began
to realize the Middle West country was rich in its way
also., He kept saying, "Ein reichesland : a rich land,
a rich country. You have everything. 1In Europe we
have exhausted everything. A rich land, a place where
things can grow, and will grow. A place where there is
place to put down roots for art." He kept saying that
you should build a great art here because there is a
place for art to put down roots. In Europe the soil
is already full of old roots. He said, "I don't want
to build a dogma but I want to build a school." ZEven
then he began to say that this might be the place where
one could build a school without all the interference
of older ideas and so on. ©So he reacted to America sas
a new land, as a virgin territory artistically speakingj

instead of thinking of it as ignorant and provincial, he
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thougat of 1t as an opporiunity.

By the time he got to Chicago...we had a very
amusing incident in Chicago. Hofmann héd insisted
on going by a Baedecker which he carried with him
which was 12 years old. I tried to convince him that
a l2-year-old Baedecker might work in Europe but it
would not work in America. He insisted on going to
a notel which he found in this Baedecker, so we got
in a2 cab and this hotel was on the south side and it
turned out to be a headquarters for either Al Capone
or his henchmen--full of ladies of light virtue,
gamblers, with all night poker games going on in the
ad jacent room and so on. Hofmann was in seventh heaven;
he said, "I have always wanted to see a gangster."

I said, "Now you havel" I shook in the sheets all
night, I was kind of afraid to be there. [Loughter]
Next day we got into a cab to go someplace and we went
around the corner and the first thing we saw was a man
with a gun, a shotgun, and another man with a pistol.
Hofmann imnediately dropped to the floor of the cab in
the aporoved gangland movie manner which he had seen in
Germany. I dropped too because it frightened me to see
him go down like that. And‘I peeked over the edge and
said, "It's all right." It was only two bank guards
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there unloading some money into a bank over there.

But, T told you about his adventurous streak, and he

was geltting a great big kick out of being in the middle
of gangland as the various movies had displayed it to
nim, [Laughter] 1In linneapolis, however, the red carpet
was out, and we saw no gangsters there.

Then coming across the plains, he marveled at the
wheat and all that. He kept saying, "A rich land, a
rich land, what unspoiled country." He had his nose to
the window pane all the way across the continent, asking
me innumerable questions, most of which I could answer,
thank goodness. But he asked me some questions I could
not answer, He was interested in every aspect, economic
and everything else., If a person on the train talked to
him, he would immediately ask him what he did and how he
lived, and where did he live and what did he do, and so
on.

When we first came to the Rockies, when the mountains
first began to move past us, it was just early evening.
We sat out on the back platform quite a while and watched
the scenery go by. I got sleepy and finally I said, "I
think it is time to go turn in." He said, "Oh, I am
going to sit for a while." ©So I.went in. He had the

double berth below and I had the little shelf above in
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.

Wlessels: the sleeper. I went in and crawled onto my shelf and
fell asleep. In the morning, quite early, I woke up
and as usual I lecaned over and peeked through the
curtains to see that everything was all right down
below there. And there was no Hofmann there, and it
looked as though his bed had not been used. I had the
next thing to heart failure.

I got dressed aquickly and clambered down and
thought, "He must have gotten off at some station and
got left behind or something." So I went running down
the aisle looking for him everywhere toward the obser-
vation car where I had last seen him. And here came
Hofmann up the aisle, his face absolutely black with
soot and his eyes red-rimmed. "I have not been able to
go to bed all night. I have seen the first day of
creation! " [Laughter] He was absolutely bowled over by
the grandeur of the mountains that the train had rolled
through and he sat there in the soot all night., He said,
"T am excited," He used his favorite German adjectives

like "colossal" and so forth to describe this tremendous
experience,

Later, when we were here, my parents and Hofmann
and myself, we wanted him to see something of the things
that we are proud of in California. He particularly

wanted to see the big trees so we took him to the Wawona
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groves and we took him to Yosemite. He waiked around
one of the big tree stumps and he got up on one that
had fallen down, the "Fallen Giant", I think it was.
Then he looked at the postcards that were being sold
at a little stand nearby. I said, "Are you going to
send one to Frau Hofmann in Munich?" He said, "No,
even she wouldn't believe it! I would not dare tell
anyone in Munich a word of this because they would
tell me that I was a liar."

He responded to the California landscape in a
peculiar way. When he first saw the Berkeley hills,
for instance, he said, "This is a feminine landscape.
In Germany we have masculine hills. These are feminine
hills." He said that he had never seen such a gentle
land. When he began to draw and paint around here, he
said, "You know, I am not used to drawing only a womanly
landscape. I am used to angles; I am used to a more
masculine type of landscape." This is the way he
expressed it. "It is very hard for one to fasten onto
a positive thing here. This landscape undulatds and
flows."

Again we see here a little bit of anthropomorphism.
I think this was always characteristic of his thought

and teaching that he projected himself and his feelings
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